GRAND RABIDS-KENT COUNTY

|

CONVENTION / ARENA AUTHORITY

ENTERTAINMENT. CONYENTION, SHOW & LPORIS FACILITIES

Agenda

Board of Directors

Friday, September 4, 2015

Following CAA Finance Committee Meeting
Kent County Commission Chambers

300 Monroe Avenue, NW, Grand Rapids, MI

10.

Call to Order

Broadway Grand Rapids - Phantom Update
Minutes of June 5, 2015

Committee Reports

A Operations Committee
i. Experience Grand Rapids Update

B. Finance Committee
i. Acceptance of July 2015 Consolidated Financial Statements
ii. SMG - Van Andel Arena® and DeVos Place® July 2015
Financial Statements
Application to Liquor Control Commission for Special License

Directors and Officers Insurance Renewal

Resolution Approving and Authorizing Execution of a Neutral Host Cellular
DAS License Agreement with Concourse Communication Group, LLC

SMG Report and Facilities Calendars
Public Comment

Adjournment

Next Meeting Date: Friday, October 2, 2015
After CAA Operations Committee Meeting

Steve Heacock
Mike Lloyd

Action

Tom Bennett

Action
Information

Action
Action

Action

Rich MacKeigan



Item 3

MINUTES OF THE GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
Friday, June S, 2015

1. Call to Order

Steve Heacock, Chairperson, called the meeting to order at 8:55 a.m. Secretary/Treasurer Richard Winn
recorded the meeting minutes. Chairperson Heacock moved Public Comment to the top of the agenda.

Attendance

Members Present: Steve Heacock, Chairperson
Lew Chamberlin
George Heartwell
Birgit Klohs
Charlie Secchia
Floyd Wilson, Jr.
Richard Winn

Members Absent: None

Staff/Others: Kathy Bart
Tom Bennett Experience Grand Rapids
Scott Gorsline DP Fox
Tim Gortsema Grand Rapids Griffins
Chris Machuta SMG
Rich MacKeigan SMG
Eddie Tadlock SMG
Susan Waddeli CAA
Jana Wallace City of Grand Rapids
Richard Wendt Dickinson Wright
Robert White CAA

2. Public Comment

Darius Quinn, chairperson of the CAA’s Community Inclusion Group, extended his thanks to Rich
MacKeigan and Chris Machuta for their hard work in booking the Kevin Hart show. The level of activity
and programming demonstrates how far the diversity initiative has come.
3. Minutes of Prior Meetings
Motion by Mr. Winn, support by Mr. Chamberlin, to approve the May 1, 2015, Minutes. Motion carried.
4, Committee Reports

A. Operations Committee

Mr. Chamberlin stated that the Operations Committee unanimously recommended approval of the FY
2016 budgets, five-year rate sheets, and DeVos Place® permanent advertising.



Convention/Arena Authority Meeting
June §5,2015-2

B. Finance Committee
i. Acceptance of Consolidated April 2015 Financial Statements

Motion: Mr. Winn, supported by Mr. Heartwell, moved to accept the Consolidated April 2015 Financial
Statements. Motion carried.

ii. SMG Van Andel Arena® and DeVos Place® April 2015
Financial Statements

The SMG financial statements were included in the agenda packet as information items.
S. FY 2016 Operating/Capital Budgets

A. Approval of FY 2016 Consolidated CAA Budgets
Motion by Mr. Winn, support by Ms. Klohs, to approve (1) the FY 2016 SMG operating budget, (2) the
FY 2016 SMG capital budget; (3) the FY 2016 CAA administrative budget; and (4) the parking rates
effective July 1, 2015. Motion carried.
6. Approval of FY 2016-FY 2020 DeVos Place® Rate Sheets

Motion by Mr. Winn, support by Ms. Klohs, to re-approve the FY 2016-FY2019 DeVos Place(4) rate
sheets and approve the FY 2020 DeVos Place rate sheets. Motion Carried.

7. DeVos Place® Permanent Advertising

Motion by Mr. Heartwell, support by Mr. Winn, to authorize SMG to negotiate an agreement with DP
Fox to sell permanent advertising at DeVos Place® convention center, with an initial expenditure not to
exceed 3325,000. Motion carried.

8. Adjournment

The meeting adjourned at 9:24 a.m.

The July and August CAA Meetings Are Cancelled.
Next Meeting Date: Friday, September 4, 2015.

Richard A. Winn, Recording Secretary



Item 4.B.i.

(ag]

agdeq

s1qeredwo)) aye(1-031-183 X
SIUNOJOY JALBXSIUTWPY

s1qeredwo)) 91(J-03-Ied X
1589310,] SuI[[oy
@998[d SOA(

s[qeredwo)) 918-01-IBS X
1S80210,] SUI[[0Y

@PUSIY [9pUY UBA

S9JO0N JUBOIJIUSIS
s1qeredwo)) 91e(J-03-Ied X
1seda10,] 3uI[[0Y

Anyroey £q Arewrwung

pIeoquse(q

S10T ‘1€ AInp
310doy [erdouBUL] PajepI[OSU0)
LILIOYINY BUAIY/UONUIAUO))

£uno)) juddf-spidey puelis)



199°CEY'LT - 3 $ _ S10Z ‘0¢ sunr © aduejeg puny pajouysalun
S6.°201 $ £85°01 $ (092°¢2) $ asuejeg pung uo (umeiQq)/ol - 3N
(229'v2) (Zz9'v2) (zgL‘6¢) juswade|deyiedayy/ended
Lw'izL $ S0Z's¢ $ 226°Sl $ (sso7) swoouj buneiado
[enjoy 1obpng 1es ) loud
LLL'Y0S $ oL6‘'Lle ¢ zes‘'sez $ 8e6°2¢¢ ¢ £6269¢ $ p8Y0LZ ¢ SWOdU| JUdA]
oov‘sl 000°GL 055°SL 0.8°61 SZh'6l Zy8‘ol aduepuayy
9l Sl £z 92 £z Lg SUEYE
[enjoy jabpng Jea ) lolld [emoy jobpng Jea) Jould
apel]/UoOiUIAUOY) SJUBAT IV
9¢8°She $ 9.962¢ $ 8sb‘'29z ¢ o9gg‘'sye ¢ 9.5'62¢ ¢ 8sp‘'z9Z ¢ aWoduj JUdAT
TVl 000'vS obe 6l V' LT 000°¥S ave6l aduepuany
¥ v z b b 4 SjuaAg
jen}oy uwmv_._m dea ) J0olid jenjdy uwmusm dea ) 10lid
Ha9U0H SJU9Al IV
@eualy [apuy UeAp
GL0Z ‘L AInr
9L0CAd

(Yyuon 1) ayeq-o]-1eap
pleoqyseq jeldueuly

SIILIMNMavd S1ACad ¥ MOHS "NOIINIANDID INIWNIvIAILING

ALIJOHINY VYN33V / NOILIN3IANOD

lﬂ

AINNOD INFASAIGV] ANVUD




6LS'ELT S (L86°9¥0°T) $§  (€8L°1T1°T) §  (8LSVTTD) $ S6L°T01 $

(S¥0°08C°1) (000'v1L°7) (Ty0°L6L°D) (0TF'TLL'D) (Z79'vD)
pT9°€SS‘l £10°L99 6ST'SLY TY8LYS LI¥LTL

(s¥L°005) (0s+°259) (05+°259) (Pet'Te9) (910°02)

(089°v9L) (0s+°L€8) (0st°L€8) (ber'LI) (910°02)
S£6°€97 000°s81 000°s81 000°S81 -

LTE 0PI 006°L6Y 910°90S LOV‘86S (16€°26)

(L1+'19) (000°99) (000°99) (000°99) -

12+°026 6£T°S16 6£T°S16 685°506 059°6

(LL9°8TD) (6€€°15¢€) (£2T°€ve) (z81°1%2) (10°201)

(Z16'v¥D) (8LS°9¥¢) (291°8¢¢) (Z9¥°'8€€) -

(oLLf1Ln) (s90°9L1) (s90°9L1) (1sL191) wievn)

(0S0°¥16°S) (90t THLS) (90t‘TyL's) (zeT'61€%9) (F81°€TH)
$S0°T01°9 01LE16'S 0IL€16°S €ST8LSS LSY'SEE
WOvIPl £95°178 £69°178 698°18¢ yI8°6€T

(1s1°26) (000°801) (000°801) (000°s01) -

199491 ¥80°091 ¥80°091 #80°091 -

TESIPE] 6LV 69L 609°69L S8L°6TS YT8°6€T

(879°86) (zss°9) (ZzH's) (ZT¥'S) -

(oL 1Ln) (s90°9L1) (s90°9L1) (rscfron) (b1ev1)

(66t°€LOY) (zsezei'y) (zse‘zeiy) (z08°s6L°¢) (055°9Z¢)
6T'S89°Ss  § sYY ELOS  $ 8YPELOS §  09L‘T6V'Y $ 88908  §
JB3X Jolrg ~0m==m Jjewnsy noy e(Q-03-18IX

JeaX-[[ng IS/L- /L

S107 Ad 9107 Ad

9107 ‘0< dunp Suipuy JBIX [BISIY
RPQ/Le Aq Lrewwng
LJI0YINY BUAIY/UOYUIAUO)) A)Uno)) Juddj-spidey pueis

saanyipuadxy [eyde)) jo JaN spnsay
sainyipuadxy ende)

SunesadQ/spaldoig )N [BI0L

19930 N
sasuadxyg
S3NUIAY

RPO

dAd Jo (350D) sp3add0ag 1IN
K195eg uBLISIPAd
Sunyjred
(sso1) swoouj Suneisad 19N
99,] 2AlUDU] -
599, JuswaFeur aseq -
ssnioe, - sasuadxy -
sanuaAdy - Suneradp
JIUI)) UONUIAUOD) ] SOAI(

VVA J0 (350D) spasdoad 19N
K19Jeg uBLISIPad
Sunjred
(ssoT) swoouj SunessdQ 19N
99, 2AnUAdY] -
599, Juswafeue]y aseq -
sanuioe,] - sasuadxy -
sanuaAsy - SuneradQ

BUAIY [2pUY UEBA



S6LT01 $ 097°€7) $ (L86OP0°T) $ 6LS‘ELT $
(Z29'v0) (z81°6€) (000°¥1L°0) (sv0°08Z°1)
LIVLTY TL6°S1 €10°L99 $T9°€SS I
(8 0¢£h) (910°02) (1LL'e) (£0¢) (0s+°259) (svL00S)
(8'0¢t) (910°02) (ree'e) (s'6) (osv°LE8) (089°v9L)

- - - (6'62) 000°s81 S€6°€97

9°8¢ (16£°T6) (sLs‘osT) (70 006°L6¥ LTEOY9

- - - (+'82) (000°99) (L1v'19)

¥L6T 0596 8TV 90) 6£Z°S16 12¥°026
€ee (1vo‘zol) (g00°¢s1) (9°¢9) (6c€°15¢) (LL9°820)

- - - s'tv) (8L5°9v¢) (Z16vv2)
(a2 wievn) (0z0'v1) (4] (s90°9L1) (oLLfrLn)
(5D (v81°€TH) (£69°C1¥) 6T (90¥°THL’S) (050°v16°S)

97T LSY'SEE 0IL€LT (1¢) 01L°€16°S $S0°Z01°9
6°0¥ pI86€T 89T°0LI 619 €95°178 WOvIPl

- - - (TLn) (000°s01) (1s1°26)
(0-001) - 9Tl (82 $80°091 199091

L'zs ¥T8°6€T 900°LS1 (o°2) 6LV 69L TES IPE]

- - - ¥'v6 (zsss) (829°86)
(1o Wwie'vl) (0zo'v1) () (s90°9L1) oLLiLn)
(6'L) (0ss°9z¢) (885°70¢€) n (zsezz1‘y) (661°€LOY)

97T 889°08S $ P19‘cLy $ (801 YV ELOS  § 67¥'S89°C  §
aduey) I€/L- /L I€/L- VL a3uey) 1o8png [eury
a3ejuadrdg 9107 Ad S10T Ad a3eyuddsdg 9107 Ad S107 Ad
eq-oL-18dX [enuay

9107 ‘0 dung Sulpuy Jed X J10§ SpUIL ] [BIdUBULY

PPQ/LONEY Aq Arewwung Ja3png
Auoginy euday/uonuasuo)) Ajuno)) Judyj-spidey puein

saamyipuadxyq [eprde)) Jo JON sHnsY
samypuadxy Jredoy /rende))

suneisad/spasdoad 3d\N )0,

190 18N
sasuadxg
SANUSAY

PWO

dAd jo (1s0D) spaadoad 1N
K1oJeS UBLISOPad
Sunyed
sso7] SupersdQ 19N
994 2AnuddUJ -
599, JudwaSeurR Iseq -
saniive, - sasuadxy -
SaNuaAY - JuneradQ
J3JUI)) UOHUIAUOD)) IJE]J SOA(

VVA Jo (350D) spaadoad 13N
Kjayes ueLSIpad
Bunjred
(sso1) swoosuj Sungerad 19N
994 SANUAIUJ -
599, Jusuafeur oseyq -
sanuioe, - sasuadxy -
sanuaAdy - SunesadQ
BUSIY [9pUY UBA



‘1894 Jo11d 19A0 949°g¢ Aq paroxdut (16£°76$) JO ,,1509,, 19N - € 93] e
(00%°81 01 0SS €1 woty dn souepuane) seak J0LId I9AO 048°/ 7 JO 9SBaIOUl
UR ‘ONUSAI JUIAD UI [/ /pOES PI1BISUST SSaUISNG MOUS SPLI)/UONUSAUO)) - | 33ed e

@908[d SOA(

“Ie3K J011d J9A0 946° 0 AQ PISBAIUI ‘4 78°6£T7$ JO “SPaao0Id 10N - € 93ed e
*(53190uU09 7) Jeak Jotid
ISA0 948" ] € JO 9SBIOUL U ‘ONUSASI JUIAS Ul 9€]‘SHES PoIRISUSS S1120U09 IN0 - | 93ed e

@BUSIY [9pUY UEA

S3JON] JUBOHIUIIS



;ml

aouBU §O 1013

19beuepy je1ousD

Jeak

feosty ayy 0} peys poob e aalb o} yuow ay; Buunp psisoy suasuod IO}
yim uolyse} pooBb ul Jeak [eosy YIOZ SH JO SHOIY BUBIY [9PUY UBA 8L

0EL 6.1'69. 609'692 0LL'6LS ovb‘ose

gl 25s's zer's eev's
- 1£0°622 16022 T65°'v2S ovv'ose
- LIY'862'Y LL¥'862'Y 295'286'€ $98'0pE
- Leg'syv'L Leg'syr't ose'eee’l LSY'SLL
- 099°'LS 099'lS £92'sy L6e't
- 66.'86 66.'86 660°'76 00L't
- £ve'IS1 £veiIst 66L'v¥1 vrv'e
- 98€0LL°L 95E'0LL°L 6S2°119°L £60'6S1
- 686'1E€ 686°LEE sio'ole viEie
- 8LL'L82 8LL'L82 8es'lze ove'ol
- 192'202 192°202 665'c6L eol'vl
- 8¥v'€L0'S 8YY'€L0'S 4% 4 Y0E'16S
- 08£'695°e 08€°695'e 029'95e'e 09.2'80¢
- 890'805'2 890'80S'C ves'see’e vya'ese
- £ve'8ee’l epe'eee’t g62'622’t 876'801
- 528'691°L G28'691°1 622'966 965°€L1
- 000'c9S 000'€9S 8.S'SES eav'Le
- 86 86 6 14
FONVIHVA 3Ad JAd

139an8 IvioL Ti0H QlA

SjUBIWIOYD

JAILNIONI 4314V SASNIdX3 3A09Y INNIAIY 1IN

334 JAILNIONI $S31

SISNAdXI IA0EV ANNIAIYH L3N

‘dX3 LOJYIANI TVL0L

Qv3HY3A0

NINQV MIVMANS
ONILVY3S AHNXNT
301440 X08
SNOILYH3dO
ONILINUVIN
JONVNId

JALLNO3IXI
SASNIdX3 LOIHIANI

3NOONI TvLOL
JNOONI H3HL0 V101

FWOONI IN3A3 TVI0L

SWOONI AHVYTTIONY
FWODNI INIAZ 103HIQ

3ONVANILLY
SIN3A3 'ON

9102 ‘0€ INNT ONIGNI HV3A TVOSId
1SvJ3HO4 ONITI0H
VN3HV T3ANV NVA



‘yluow ay} Joj sjaas] payoadxa 18 ul awed sasuadxa 10a.ipu|

S3ISNIdX3 LOIHIONI

*Jeak ay} 4o} [|Bs9A0 10adxa PINOM am 1B SI9A3| 1. (19} ABYl ||BIBA0 ‘PBISOY SIUDAD U}
JO yoea 10} pIjos aiom sded Jad alIyp ‘yIuow ay} 10} S|9A3| Pa1oadxa 1B Ul awed awodul Arejjiouy

JINOONI AHVTIIONY

‘yluow ay} Buunp PeISOY SHBJUD J0jAR) SBWer pue
urem) elueys ay jo yibuans au} uo |iesan0 16PN J0 PEaYE S| B Ul SWED SWOIUI JUBAD 108110

Yo' LIS 2665913 ¥28'6€2$
(o19'91€) (002'8se) (rog‘ove)
SSELIE 919'v61 6v8'vee
86205 ovv'ss ¥62'69
ZIE'Y8 9£6'S01 8v6'801
608°2LIS 002'se1$ 965'€L1$
ove'sl 000'vS gev'Le
2 12 14
JeaA Joud «mm.uam reny
§102 Q1A 9102 QLA 9102 QLA
Yo' LYiS 266'591$ ¥28'6£23
(o19'91€) (002'8se) (ro8'ove)
SGLLLE 919'v61 6v8'vee
86205 ovt'ss ¥62'€9
zIe'v8 9€6'S01 8v6'801
60€'2LIS$ 002'se1$ 965'€L1$
oveE'sl 000've gev'Le
2 4 14
S10Z Ad 1ebpng [enoy
Aipp Anp Ainp

FWOINI LN3A3

awoou| 18N

sasuadx3 10a1py|
awoou)| bunesado 1BYO
BWOoOU| JUBAT 18I0
awoou| Alejjiouy
BWOdY| JUaAT 108i1q
aouepuapy

SJUaAT JO JaquINN

alA

aWOodU} 9N

sasuadx3 j0a.1pu|
awoouj BunesadQ 1ay10
SWOJU| JUBAT JBYID
awoou| Auejjiouy
aWOoDU] JUSAT 10341Q
aouepusiy

SJUSAT JO JaquINN

HLNOW

:1eak Joud pue 196pnq 0} pasedwoo se

aje( 0} JESA PUB YIUOW JUaLIND 8y} Yioq Joj s)nsai Bunesedo sezuewwns ajnpayds Buimojioy syt

9102 ‘o€ INNC DNIANI HY3IA TvOSId HO4

SLHOITHOIH LNIW3LVLS TVIONVNIS

VYN3HY 730NV NVA



1019211(] doURUL{

1a5euRy [RIOUSD

‘s1eak )sed u1 suop aaey am se 195pnq

Y3 yorew [1im seak [eosy sy) Jo souenb isiyy 9y 10§ 3seoa10§ Suijjol oy 1eak Joud
JO pe3ye pue [[RIaA0 153PNQ YIM JUS)SISUOD 183K [BISI) M3U € SUE)S 308|J SOAQ

9II'8 (6£€'15€) (€7T°cve) asrivd (1vo‘zon

911°8 8LS°9vE To'8ce ov8€e
- (19L'p) (19L°Y) 187'L6 (1$0'701)
- 1Ly'816°S 1LP'816°C TL6'08Y'S 86¥'LEY
- ¥80°L61°C ¥80°L61°C cci‘olo'c 796981
- 8¥0°TO¥ 810'T0V 6TL'LLE 61¢'vT
5 T€6°'16 TE6'16 958°78 9L0°6
- L99°960°1 £99'960°1 TLO'ETO'1 S6S°EL
- 6T0°1¥S°1 620 1vS°1 69€°8EH° [ 099201
- 96§'9T1 965°971 9911 £56'6
" ¥59°'65¢T ¥59°65C TTYIHT T€0°81
, 19%°€0T 19°€0T 655061 T06°CH
- 01L°El6'S 01L°€16°S £5T'8LS'S LS SEE
- 0S¥ PeE 0S¥'vEE 8T8°0¢¢ 9t
- 09Z°6LS°S 09T°6LS°S STY'LYT'S SE8°1€€
- 098°6£9°'C 098°6£9°C 669°S8Y°C 191°pS1
- 00V°6€6°C 00%°6£6°T 9TLI9LT PLI'LLL
- 009°T8Y 009°T8¥ 0€L°T9Y 0L8°61
- L9V L9Y 24 9T
AONVIUVA AAd AXA oy 8NPV LA

1anang TVLOL

Ssjuswwo)

SISNILXT ONILVIILO
YIAO INNIATY ONLLVIALO LIN

34 JALLNIDNI
SASNAIXT FA0LIY ANNIATY LIAN
‘dXd ONLLVYIJO TVLOL

JVIHYIAO

SATVS

JD1440 X0d
SADIAYIS INIAT
SNOILVY3dO
ONILINIVIN
JONVNIA
JALLNDIXT
SASNILXT LOTAIANI

ANNIATY ONLLVIALO TVLIOL
ANNIATY YTHLO TVLIOL
ANNIATY LINTAT TVIOL

INNIATE AAVTTIONY
ANNIATY LNTAT LOTUIA

IONVANALLV
SINIAT 'ON

9107 ‘0€ ANNC DNIANT ¥VIA TVISId
LSVIIYOA ONITT0Y
IIOVId SOA 3d



“Jepuded JoMO[S Y1 Sulnp USYE) 219M SUOIEORA AUBW SE PAJER[a] pUE
[101Ked ur sem s3urAes 2y} JO IO “YIUOW U JoJ PajeSpnq uey) Jomo] ul awred sasuadxa yoarpuy

SASNAIXT LOTAIANI

‘puokaq pue /107 AJ 10§ SuUONe)dadxa SSIAL [[IM PUB UMOP S SUW0dUL
ATe[jIoue Jey) JSWWNS SANNOISUOD PUOISS SI SIY] °I]0YMm B Se Jeak [edsl) JYy) 10§ Widduod Aue
[} Joyrel Pa1soy SIudAd Jo adA) ay) 01 anp sem I1 IaAamoY [JeIaA0 1a8pnq JO LIOYS [[9) SuI0dUl ARR|[IdUY

AWOINI AAVTTIONV

"[[e32A0 193pNQq Yiim JUDISISUOD SeM JUIOOUT JUIAT

(€00°¢S1$) (L8L0T1$) (1%0°T01$)
(€1L°9TH) (907°€6%) (86¥°LED)
97T’e 9997 616°C
LETL 0 £0L
€L0°S11 966°507 191°bS1
PLISYIS L6L°E91S YLILLIS
89l STH61 0L8°61
1€ X4 92
Tea A .—otn_ aow_u:m ey
SI0ZALA 9107 ALA 9107 ALA
(£00°€S1$) (L8L°0T1$) (1¥0°201$)
(€1L9Tk) (902°¢6%) (86¥°LEY)
97T€ 9997 616°C
LETL 0 £0L
€LO'ST 95660 191°%S1
PLISFIS L6LE91S PLOLLLS
Tr891 STH'61 0.8°61
1€ X4 9
S107 Ad 193png [enjoy
Ang Ang Ang

JIWOIDNI INTAT

woou 19N

sasuadxg 1081pu]
swoouj SunesedQ LYO
200U} JUSAY JSYIO
woduj Are|[Iouy
JwooU] JUSAT M
2ouepuspy

SJuU2AT JO Jaqunp

dLA

swoduf 1PN
sasuadxg 19911pu]
swoouj SuyeradQ 1BYO
awoou] JUsAF 1YY
awoou] Arj[ouy
Jwoou| JUAT 39311
Jouepuspy

SJuaAF JO Jaqunp

HINOKN

:1eak Joud pue 198pnq 03 paredwod se

aJe(] 01 183§ PUE YIUOUI JUSLIND Y} Yi0q 10j s)nsas Supesado sazurewwns s[npayds Suimo]|of sy L

9107 ‘0€ ANNF ONIANT YVIA TVISIA
SLHOI'THOIH INFWALVLS TVIONVNIA

JOV1d SOA 1d



(8°0¢t) (910°02) $ (LL®) $ (z09) (0s¥zs9) ¢ (svL00S) §
8 0ch 91002 1LLE $'6 0St°LES 089v9L
L'v8 8LE1 9L v'6LT 00009 v18°S1

- 6v 000vC 6L8°TT

+0'001 0S1°T v'0€ 000°0€ z10°€T

- (670 000°0€ 076°8€

- (6°Lp) SYETL €L6°8€1

- +0°001 000°0V -

- 02 0050V 0TL 6€
€SEI°l £08 9 L1 00089 688°99
+0'001 - $'6S 000001 11L29
$'686 ¥07°9 (L29) Sl $09°CT1 €L0°L01
Y91 18t°6 L8S‘€E 'l 000°sZ1 689°€T1

- - 000°5Z1 000°5Z1

- - (662) 000°581 SE6°€9C

1L 000°S€ STV 11

€6 000°0SI $  OISTHL $
a3uey) 1€/L/T/L 1€/L-T/L 3duey) ys3png [eury
aseyuadsag 9107 Ad S107 A4 adeyuadsag 9107 Ad S10Z Ad
Oaﬂﬁucuu.-ﬂo > —«===<
S10T ‘1€ A[np
e spadadoayd 19N

SHUNOIIY IANBI)SIUIWIPY

ALIOYNY LU Y/UONUIAUO)) )uno)) Judd-spidey pueis)

:S9JON

Sunerad() - spaasoid 19N

JoyQysanddng
soueInsu|

MV JO JUSWAIN00I]
Surdeospue]
$90IAIOG Sunjnsuo)

sireday] a8e1anag 29 poo
wawssassy did
S9OIAISS [BUOISS9JOI]
uSredwe)) Sunayuey
sujouag/sofem

aAIRINU] AJISI9AI]
(suodg/gAD) Sunexie

sasuadxyg

(femoy @LA) 580210 Suljjoy

SNOAUE[[IISIA]

“nuo)) rende)asarau]

SaNUAAYY

BY10



DE VOS PLACE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MAY 31, 2015

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — KentCounty Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Joe Romano

Gary McAneney

John Szudzik

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facliity



DE VOS PLACE
ROLLING FORECAST

FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2015

NO. EVENTS
ATTENDANCE

DIRECT EVENT REVENUE
ANCILLARY REVENUE

TOTAL EVENT REVENUE

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE

INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE
FINANCE
MARKETING
OPERATIONS

EVENT SERVICES
BOX OFFICE

SALES

OVERHEAD

TOTAL OPERATING EXP.

NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES

INCENTIVE FEE

NET OPERATING REVENUE OVER

OPERATING EXPENSES

Comments;

TOTAL BUDGET
YTD Actual Roll FYE FYE VARIANCE
474 27 501 507 )
573,713 38,500 612,213 498,100 114,113
3,038,618 151,942 3,190,560 2,961,450 229,110
2,252,424 280,434 2,532,858 2,424,042 108,316
5,291,042 432,376 5,723,418 5,385,492 337,926
428 816 18,500 447316 320,450 126,866
5,719,858 450,876 6,170,734 5,705,942 464,792
172,388 25,056 197,444 194,099 (3,345)
227,514 19,545 247,059 251,535 4,476
122,059 22,300 144,359 112,700 (31,659)
1,440,503 152,644 1,593,147 1,558,584 (34,563)
933,029 77,632 1,010,661 1,067,867 57,206
130,239 11,342 141,581 90,712 (50,869)
365,856 37,648 403,504 400,369 (3,135)
2,220,152 139,694 2,359,846 2,329,945 (29,901)
5,611,740 485,861 6,097,601 6,005,811 (91,790)
108,118 (34,985) 73,133 (299,869) 373,002
250,084 250,084 (250,084)
108,118 (285,069) (176,951) (299,869) 122,918

DeVos Place concludes May in a very strong position to finish the fiscal year

well ahead of budget and prior year and it is anticipated that overall operational
revenues will exceed expenses for the year as a whole.

Z/,

- o o a



DE VOS PLACE
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2015

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date
as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH May May May

Actual Budget FY 2014
Number of Events 46 60 45
Attendance 64,146 44,950 55,018
Direct Event Income $327,163 $281,615 $306,035
Ancillary Income 297,067 252,439 328,815
Other Event Income 32,130 24,507 3,394
Other Operating Income 2,531 2,666 2,311
Indirect Expenses (611,592) (500,484) (535,158)
Net Income $47,299 $60,743 $105,397
YTD YTD 2015 YTD 2015 YTD 2014

Actual Budget _ Prior Year
Number of Events 474 467 452
Attendance 573,713 469,119 534,383
Direct Event Income $3,038,618 $2,736,759 $2,872,043
Ancillary Income 2,252,424 2,172,820 2,304,653
Other Event Income 401,784 257,702 294,701
Other Operating Income 27,032 29,326 29,460
Indirect Expenses (5,611,740) (5,505,324) (5,720,658)
Net Income $108,118 ($308,717) ($219,801)
EVENT INCOME

Event income came in a little ahead of budget and consistent with the forcast for the month,

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary income finished ahead of budget and a little ahead of forecast as catering revenues

for the month were very strong

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in higher than budget and consistent with forecast as labor was higher
due to some annual maintenance projects done during some down time (which is harder and

harder to find these days).




Event Income

Direct Event Income
Rental Income
Service Revenue
Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Anclllary Income
F&B Concession
F&B Catering
Novelty Sales
Booth Cleaning
Telephone/Long Distance
Electrical Services
Audio Visual
Intemet Services
Equipment Rental

Total Anclllary Income

Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event)

Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income

Other Operating Income
Luxury Box Agreements
Other Income

Total Other Operating income

Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages
Payroll Taxes and Benefits
Labor Allocations to Events

Net Salaries and Benefits

Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations

Repalr and Maintenance
Operational Supplies
Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income(L.oss) From Operations

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Adjusted Net Income(Loss)

DeVos Place
Income Statement
For the Eleven Months Ending May 31, 2015

Current Month  Current Month CurrentMonth  Yearto Date  Yearto Date Year to Date
Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget __Variance Prior Year

$341,651 $293,680 $47,971 $327,617 $3,331,024 $2,815,800 $515,224 $2,943,734
380,101 228,646 151,456 253,040 2,454,961 1,938,414 516,547 2,314,719
(394,589) (240,711) (153,878) (274,622) (2,747,367) (2,017,455) (729,912) (2,386,410)
327,163 281,615 45,548 306,035 3,038,618 2,736,769 301,859 2,872,043
16,772 13,033 3,739 9,849 194,689 170,201 24,488 183,946
142,426 100,712 41,714 144,260 740,720 735,935 4,785 715,433
3,362 933 2,429 0 15,320 10,472 4,848 7,073
27,411 18,784 8,627 54,049 306,914 246,489 60,425 303,739
0 0 0 [1] 1,688 0 1,688 2,700
26,547 43,692 (17,145) 40,898 393,203 445,380 (52,177) 415,082
46,424 43,014 3,410 48,238 276,420 319,060 (42,640) 383,267
12,464 9,805 2,469 14,429 115,773 84,801 30,972 109,561
21,661 22,276 (615) 17,092 207,697 160,482 47,215 183,852
297,067 252,439 44,628 328,815 2,252,424 2,172,820 79,604 2,304,653
32,130 24,507 7,623 3,394 401,784 257,702 144,082 294,701
32,130 24,807 7,623 3,394 401,784 257,702 144,082 294,701
656,360 558,561 97,799 638,244 5,692,826 5,167,281 526,548 5,471,397
1,199 1,333 (134) 1,341 13,908 14,663 (7565) 15,379
1,332 1,333 [¢}] 970 13,124 14,663 (1,539) 14,081
2,631 2,666 (135) 2,311 27,032 29,326 (2,294) 29,460
658,891 561,227 97,664 640,565 5,719,858 5,196,607 523,261 5,500,857
428,370 269,202 159,168 371,323 3,006,952 2,961,222 45,730 2,900,360
125,875 78,248 47,627 78,182 957,824 860,728 97,096 908,480
(287,208) (148,656) (138,642) (218,410) (1,749,117) (1,635,216) (113,901) (1,678,771)
266,947 198,794 68,183 231,095 2,215,669 2,186,734 28,926 2,130,069
29,937 20,718 9,219 31,437 206,250 227,898 68,352 339,622
27,289 28,110 (821) 22,029 341,338 309,210 32,126 317,317
28,974 9,960 19,014 4,558 143,105 109,560 33,545 85,202
46,280 41,350 4,930 35,755 491,192 454,850 38,342 424,163
13,765 20,975 (7.210) 14,280 177,572 230,725 (53,153) 163,320
23,966 16,322 7,644 20,027 231,989 179,542 52,447 211,742
160,120 150,067 10,053 161,957 1,557,181 1,650,737 (93,556) 1,895,006
14,314 14,188 126 14,020 157,456 156,068 1,388 154,217
611,592 500,484 114,108 536,158 6,611,740 5,608,324 108,416 6,720,658
47,299 60,743 (13,444) 105,397 108,118 (308,747) 418,835 (219,801)
47,299 60,743 (13,444) 105,397 108,118 (308,717) 416,835 (219,801)

5



SMG DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Year to Date Event Summary Report
For the Eleven Months ended May 31, 2015

Events/Days Attendance Total Event Income
Event Type Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
Convention/Trade Shows 124 110 115,175 105,600 1,973,032 1,706,760
Consumer/Gated Shows 50 53 174,237 139,989 1,139,937 1,099,181
DeVos Performance Hall 138 126 175,765 148,800 1,391,371 1,066,590
Banquets 39 40 33,358 26,000 392,504 403,040
Meetings 86 95 24,850 33,250 487,183 602,965
Other 37 43 50,328 15,480 308,799 288,745
GRAND TOTALS 474 467 573,713 469,119 5,692,826 5,167,281
As Percentage of Overall
Convention/Trade Shows 26.16% 23.55% 20.08% 22.51% 34.66% 33.03%
Consumer/Gated Shows 10.55% 11.35% 30.37% 29.84% 20.02% 21.27%
Devos Performance Hall 29.11% 26.98% 30.64% 31.72% 24.44% 20.64%
Ballroom Exclusive 8.23% 8.57% 5.81% 5.54% 6.89% 7.80%
Meetings 18.14% 20.34% 4.33% 7.09% 8.56% 11.67%

Other 7.81% 921% 8.77% 3.30% 5.42% 5.5%9%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred tncome

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities
Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

DeVos Place
Balance Sheet
As of May 31, 2015

ASSETS

2,097,207
1,057,737
63,623

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

214,419
269,479
72,611
1,041,625

(826,954)
1,424,450
904,820
108,116

$3,208,568

$3,208,568

$1,598,133

$1,610,432

$3,208,565




SMG - DeVos Place

Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of May 31, 2015

Current - Under 30 Days
Food & Beverage
Ticketing
Merchandise
Decorating
Audio/Visual
Van Andel Arena
Operating

Over 30 Days

Over 60 Days

Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable

157,426
13,182
1,959
27,410
46,563
84,176
507,431

103,750

115,840

1,057,737



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2015

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY

Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2014
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 1,458,412 73,133 1,531,545 107,686
Benchmark ++ 750,000 750,000
Excess 1,458,412 73,133 781,545 (642,314)

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Base Fee 171,770 171,770 343,540 336,474
Incentive Fee
Revenue 5,661,721 6,170,734 11,832,455 10,683,672
Benchmark Revenue 5,000,000 4,400,000 9,400,000 9,300,000
Revenue Excess 661,721 1,770,734 2,432,455 1,383,672
Incentive Fee ** 93,456 250,084 343,540 -
Total SMG Management Fee 265,226 421,854 687,080 336,474

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.

++ If net revenues above expenses exceeds $700,000, SMG is eligible for 75% of the incentive fee.



VAN ANDEL

ARENA

GRAND RAFIDS

VAN ANDEL ARENA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED MAY 31, 2015

PROUD HOME OF THE GRAND RAPIDS GRIFFINS - 2013 CALDER CUP CHAMPIONS

CALDER CUP
(CHANVIPIONS |

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — KentCounty Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Joe Romano

Gary McAneney

John Szudzik

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facliity



VAN ANDEL ARENA
ROLLING FORECAST
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2016

YTD ROLL TOTAL BUDGET
FYE FYE VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 105 2 107 100 7
ATTENDANCE 638,513 6,000 644,513 676,000 68,513
DIRECT EVENT INCOME 1,186,726 25,000 1,211,726 1,126,581 85,145
ANCILLARY INCOME 1,580,739 8,750 1,589,489 1,234,509 354,980
TOTAL EVENT INCOME 2,767,465 33,750 2,801,215 2,361,090 440,125
TOTAL OTHER INCOME 2,707,506 153,000 2,860,506 2,513,125 347,381
TOTAL INCOME 5,474,971 186,750 5,661,721 4,874,215 787,506
INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE 186,010 22,686 208,696 179,481 (29,215)
FINANCE 193,253 25,970 219,223 239,406 20,183
MARKETING 235,442 28,667 264,109 281,845 17,736
OPERATIONS 1,603,741 147,855 1,751,596 1,686,446 (65,150)
BOX OFFICE 111,319 6,567 117,886 127,293 9,407
LUXURY SEATING 56,330 26,301 82,631 96,234 13,603
SKYWALK ADMIN 46,098 3,868 49,966 40,960 (9,006)
OVERHEAD 1,405,478 103,724 1,509,202 1,471,385 (37.817)

TOTAL INDIRECT EXP. 3,837,672 365,638 4,203,309 4,123,050 (80,259)
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES 1,637,299 (178,888) 1,458,412 751,165 707,247
LESS INCENTIVE FEE 93,456 93,456 - (93,456)
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES AFTER INCENTIVE 1,637,299 (272,344) 1,364,956 761,165 613,791
Comments:

Van Andel Arena concludes a very successful May with strong selling
concerts by Jason AldeagKevin Hart, New Kids on the Block, and Hall & General Mahager
Oates in addition to 7 home playoff games.

/ A/

7,
n




VAN ANDEL ARENA
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
FOR MONTH ENDED MAY 31, 2015

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date
as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH May May May

Actual Budget FY 2014
Number of Events 14 4 7
Attendance 86,659 31,000 35,600
Direct Event Income $240,783 $93,406 $51,026
Ancillary Income 242,477 65,330 102,044
Other Event income 114,875 45,200 41,173
Other Operating Income 203,748 175,485 118,965
Indirect Expenses (371,072) {345,065) (370,292)
Net Income $430,811 $34,356 ($57,084)
YTD YTD 2015 YTD 2015 YTD 2014

Actual ~_Budget Prior Year
Number of Events 105 99 92
Attendance 638,513 568,500 495,519
Direct Event Income $1,186,726 $1,093,908 $980,140
Ancillary Income 1,580,739 1,195,704 1,148,407
Other Event Income 647,467 445,400 338,617
Other Operating Income 2,060,039 1,883,199 1,906,050
Indirect Expenses (3,837,672) (3,795,715) (3,656,288)
Net income $1,637,299 $822,496 $716,926

EVENT INCOME

Event income came in well ahead of budget on stronger than anticipated sales for New Kids, Hall &
Oates, and the 7 unbudgeted Giriffins playoff games hosted during the month.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary income came in ahead of both budget and forecast as per caps on food & beverage, especially
New Kids and Hall & Oates concerts, were significantly higher than expected.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in at expected levels for the month.




Van Andel Arena
Income Statement
For the Eleven Months Ending May 31, 2015

Curmrent Month Current Month Current Month  Yearto Date  Year to Date Year to Date
Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year
Event Income
Direct Event Income
Rental Income $264,748 $87,474 177,274 $77,048  $1,747,434  $1,547,966 189,468  $1,570,789
Service Revenue 379,439 113,562 265,887 74,314 2,102,053 1,174,289 927,764 980,034
Service Expenses (403,404) (107,620) (295,784) (100,336) (2,662,761)  (1,628,347) (1,034,414) (1,570,683)
Total Direct Event Income 240,783 93,406 147,317 51,026 1,186,726 1,093,908 92,818 980,140
Ancillary Income
F&B Concession 213,003 45,420 167,583 87,217 1,352,428 1,036,841 316,587 998,985
F&B Catering 17,156 12,674 4,482 4,806 129,685 71,019 58,666 91,788
Noveity Sales 12,109 7,236 4,873 10,021 95,399 87,344 8,055 56,832
Booth Cleaning 209 0 209 0 2,545 0 2,545 766
Audio Visual 0 0 0 0 182 500 (318) 36
Other Angcillary 0 0 0 0 500 0 500 0
Total Anciliary income 242,477 65,330 177,147 102,044 1,580,739 1,195,704 385,035 1,148,407
Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event) 114,875 45,200 69,675 41,173 647,467 445,400 202,067 338,617
Total Other Event Income 114,875 45,200 69,675 41,173 647,467 445,400 202,067 338,617
Total Event Income : 598,135 203,936 394,199 194,243 3,414,932 2,735,012 679,920 2,467,164
Other Operating Income
Luxury Box Agreements 152,524 119,402 33,122 62,986 1,606,407 1,266,282 240,125 1,286,115
Advertising 42,734 52,083 (9,349) 652,136 488,883 572,917 (84,034) 575,365
Other Income 8,490 4,000 4,480 3,843 64,749 44,000 20,749 44,570
Total Other Operating Income 203,748 175,485 28,263 118,965 2,060,039 1,883,199 176,840 1,906,050
Adjusted Gross Income - 801,883 379,421 422,462 313,208 5,474,971 4,618,211 856,760 4,373,214
Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages 285,921 168,573 117,348 191,543 2,197,663 1,854,303 343,360 1,775,690
Payroll Taxes and Benefits 66,152 48,120 17,032 44,424 637,004 540,320 96,684 491,642
Labor Allocations to Events (172,508) (69,893) (102,615) (59,652) (1,249,118) (768,823) (480,295) (762,056)
Net Salaries and Benefits 179,565 147,800 31,765 176,315 1,585,549 1,625,800 (40,251) 1,505,276
Contracted Services 18,368 20,928 (2,560) 16,735 215,451 230,208 (14,757) 198,817
General and Administrative 32,694 25,218 7,476 19,827 340,410 277,398 63,012 329,554
Operations 3,144 4,118 (974) 5,777 44,879 45,298 (419) 37,148
Repair and Maintenance 14,732 20,675 (5,943) 15,076 257,709 227,425 30,284 189,776
Operational Supplies 10,243 15,415 (5,172) 13,613 173,009 169,565 3,444 170,754
Insurance 22,587 10,727 11,860 25,100 175,294 117,997 57,297 131,024
Utilities 75,425 85,996 (10,571) 83,829 887,915 945,956 (58,041) 939,131
SMG Management Fees 14,314 14,188 126 14,020 157,456 156,068 1,388 154,808
Total Operating Expenses 371,072 345,065 26,007 370,292 3,837,672 3,795,715 41,987 3,656,288
Net Income(L.oss) From Operations 430,811 34,356 396,455 (57,084) 1,637,299 822,496 814,803 716,926
Other Non-Operating Expenses
Adjusted Net Income(Loss) 430,811 34,356 396,455 (57.084) 1,637,299 822,496 814,803 716,926

g



Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

For the Eleven Months Ended May 31, 2015

SMG - Van Andel Arena

Event Summary

Event Type

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games
Other

GRAND TOTALS

As Percentage of Overall

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games

Other

Events/Days

Actual _Budget

19

8

22

46

10

105

18.10%

7.62%

20.95%

43.81%

9.52%

20

10

21

38

10

99

20.20%

10.10%

21.21%

38.38%

10.10%

Attendance Total Event Income
Actual Budget Actual Budget
57,254 57,500 183,326 179,275
36,629 45,000 294,991 284,455
191,376 181,000 2,015,933 1,544,382
296,235 228,000 678,783 566,998
57,019 57,000 241,898 159,902
638,513 568,500 3,414,932 2,735,012
8.97% 10.11% 537% 6.55%
5.74% 7.92% 8.64% 10.40%
29.97% 31.84% 59.03% 56.47%
46.39% 40.11% 19.88% 20.73%
8.93% 10.03% 7.08% 5.85%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilitles

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

Van Andel Arena
Balance Sheet
As of May 31, 2015

ASSETS

4,099,144
614,201
20,308

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

1,104,489

627,999
1,087,022
3,524,230

$4,733,662

$4,733,652

(3,225,882)
827,075
(848,577)
1,637,298

$6,343,740

($1,610,087)

$4,733,652




SMG - Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of May 31, 2015

Current - Under 30 Days

Food & Beverage 418,064

Ticketing 32,058

Merchandise 10,771

Permanent Advertising -

DeVos Place (84,176)

Operating 219,369
Over 30 Days 18,115
Over 60 Days -
Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable 614,201



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2015

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY
Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2014
. Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 1,458,412 73,133 1,531,545 107,686
Benchmark ++ 750,000 750,000
Excess 1,458,412 73,133 781,545 (642,314)

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Base Fee 171,770 171,770 343,540 336,474
Incentive Fee
Revenue 5,661,721 6,170,734 11,832,455 10,683,672
Benchmark Revenue 5,000,000 4,400,000 9,400,000 9,300,000
Revenue Excess 661,721 1,770,734 2,432,455 1,383,672
Incentive Fee ** 93,456 250,084 343,540 -
Total SMG Management Fee 265,226 421,854 687,080 336,474

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.

++ If net revenues above expenses exceeds $700,000, SMG is eligible for 75% of the incentive fee.



DE VOS PLACE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

***PRELIMINARY — UNAUDITED STATEMENTS#***

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — KentCounty Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Joe Romano

Gary McAneney

John Szudzik

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facliity



DE VOS PLACE
ROLLING FORECAST
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2015

TOTAL BUDGET
YTD Actual Roll FYE FYE VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 505 505 514 ©
ATTENDANCE 592,036 592,036 507,850 84,186
DIRECT EVENT REVENUE 3,164,007 3,164,007 2,961,450 202,557
ANCILLARY REVENUE 2,465,627 2,465,627 2,424,042 41,585
TOTAL EVENT REVENUE 5,629,634 - 5,629,634 5,385,492 244,142
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 472,421 472,421 320,450 151,971
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 6,102,055 - 6,102,055 5,705,942 396,113
INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE 181,423 181,423 194,099 12,676
FINANCE 245,367 245,367 251,535 6,168
MARKETING 135,685 135,685 112,700 (22,985)
OPERATIONS 1,564,631 1,564,631 1,558,584 (6,047)
EVENT SERVICES 1,024,165 1,024,165 1,067,867 43,702
BOX OFFICE 143,258 143,258 90,712 (52,546)
SALES 393,722 393,722 400,369 6,647
OVERHEAD 2,397,569 2,397,569 2,329,945 (67,624)

TOTAL OPERATING EXP. 6,085,821 - 6,085,820 6,005,811 (80,009)
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES 16,234 - 16,235 (299,869) 316,104
INCENTIVE FEE 244912 244,912 (244,912)
NET OPERATING REVENUE OVER 16,234 (244,912) (228,677) (299,869) 71,192

OPERATING EXPENSES
Comments:

DeVos Place concludes another successful fiscal year with record revenues
helping the facility finish slightly ahead of breakeven operationally for the
fiscal year as a whole.




DE VOS PLACE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2015

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date

as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH

Number of Events
Attendance

Direct Event Income
Ancillary Income

Other Event Income
Other Operating Income
Indirect Expenses

Net Income

YTD

Number of Events
Attendance

Direct Event Income
Ancillary Income

Other Event Income
Other Operating Income
Indirect Expenses

Net Income

EVENT INCOME

Event income fell below budget and forecast, however, was enough to keep the facility

June June June
Actual Budget FY 2014

31 47 37

18,323 38,720 22,444

$125,392 $224,674 $157,109

213,201 251,152 277,780

41,782 30,760 23,222

1,824 2,666 1,489
(474,079) (500,484) (579,043)
($91,880) $8,768 ($119,443)

YTD 2015 YTD 2015 YTD 2014
Actual Budget Prior Year

505 514 489

592,036 507,850 556,827

$3,164,007 $2,961,450 $3,029,152

2,465,627 2,424,042 2,582,434

443,566 288,450 317,923

28,855 32,000 30,948
(6,085,821) (6,005,811) (6,299,700)
$16,234 ($299,869) ($339,243)

operationally in the black for the fiscal year as a whole.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary Income came in at expected levels for the month.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in at expected levels for the month and while exceeding budget

overall for the year came in ahead of prior year.




Event Income

Direct Event Income
Rental Income
Service Revenue
Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary income
F&B Concession
F&B Catering
Noveity Sales
Booth Cleaning
Telephone/Long Distance
Electricat Services
Audio Visual
Internet Services
Equipment Rental

Total Ancillary Income

Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event)

Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income

Other Operating Income
Luxury Box Agreements
Other Income

Total Other Operating Income

Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages
Payroll Taxes and Benefits
Labor Allocations to Events

Net Salaries and Benefits

Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations

Repair and Maintenance
Operational Supplies
Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income(Loss) From Operations

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Adjusted Net Income(Loss)

DeVos Place
Income Statement
For the Twelve Months Ending June 30, 2015

Current Month  Current Month Current Month  Yearto Date  Year to Date Year to Date
Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year

$138,085 $256,900 ($118,815) $185,173 $3,469,108 $3,072,700 $396,408 $3,128,907
184,098 215,097 (30,999) 158,886 2,639,058 2,391,500 247,558 2,473,605
(196,791) (247,323) 50,532 (186,950) (2,944,159) (2,502,750) (441,409) (2,573,360)
125,392 224,674 (99,282) 157,109 3,164,007 2,961,450 202,557 3,029,152
11,772 10,840 932 18,395 206,462 181,100 25,362 202,342
118,390 101,040 17,350 159,752 859,110 802,000 57,110 875,185
3,500 1,514 1,986 1,543 18,820 12,000 6,820 8,616
2,193 19,620 (17.427) 11,362 309,107 266,092 43,015 315,102
0 0 0 0 1,688 0 1,688 2,700
15,416 45,260 (29,844) 25,668 408,620 490,600 (81,980) 440,750
49,355 44,670 4,685 53,313 325,775 363,750 (37,975) 436,580
4,280 10,690 (6,410) (6,043) 120,053 130,500 (10,447) 103,518
8,295 17,518 (9,223) 13,790 215,992 178,000 37,992 197,641
213,201 251,152 (37,951) 277,780 2,465,627 2,424,042 41,585 2,582,434
41,782 30,760 11,022 23,222 443,566 288,450 155,116 317,923
41,782 30,760 11,022 23,222 443,566 288,450 165,116 317,923
380,375 506,586 (126,211) 458,111 6,073,200 5,673,942 399,258 5,929,509
1,199 1,333 (134) 1,341 15,106 16,000 (894) 16,720
625 1,333 (708) 148 13,749 16,000 (2,261) 14,228
1,824 2,666 (842) 1,489 28,855 32,000 {(3,145) 30,948
382,199 509,252 (127,053) 459,600 6,102,055 5,705,942 396,113 5,960,457
242,737 269,202 (26,465) 237,788 3,249,690 3,230,423 19,267 3,138,148
78,346 78,248 98 99,940 1,036,171 938,980 97,191 1,008,420
(153,120) (148,656) (4,464) (112,836) (1,802,237) (1,783,874) (118,363) (1,791,608)
167,963 198,794 (30,831) 224,892 2,383,624 2,385,529 (1,905) 2,354,960
24,977 20,718 4,259 26,235 321,227 248,621 72,606 365,857
38,035 28,110 9,925 16,312 379,370 337,323 42,047 333,629
9,017 9,960 (943) 11,364 152,122 119,522 32,600 96,567
56,699 41,350 15,349 62,858 547,891 496,199 51,692 487,021
25,662 20,975 4,687 52,629 203,234 251,700 (48,466) 215,949
13,423 16,322 (2,899) 15,434 245,413 195,860 49,553 227,175
123,989 150,067 (26,078) 155,299 1,681,170 1,800,800 (119,630) 2,050,305
14,314 14,188 126 14,020 171,770 170,257 1,513 168,237
474,079 500,484 (26,405) 579,043 6,085,821 6,005,811 80,010 6,299,700
(91,880) 8,768 (100,648) (119,443) 16,234 (299,869) 316,103 (339,243)
(91,880) 8,768 (100,648) (119,443) 16,234 (299,869) 316,103 (339,243)

2



SMG DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Year to Date Event Summary Report
For the Twelve Months ended June 30, 2015

Events/Days Attendance Total Event Income

Event Type Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
Convention/Trade Shows 127 120 115,825 120,000 2,024,184 1,919,500
Consumer/Gated Shows 50 53 174,237 140,000 1,139,937 1,099,200
DeVos Performance Hall 148 136 188,638 162,100 1,511,806 1,167,800
Banquets 41 45 35,168 29,250 440,560 453,442
Meetings 99 110 27,705 38,500 647,173 698,250
Other 40 50 50,463 18,000 309,540 335,750
GRAND TOTALS 505 514 592,036 507,850 6,073,200 5,673,942
As Percentage of Overall

Convention/Trade Shows 25.15% 23.35% 19.56% 23.63% 33.33% 33.83%
Consumer/Gated Shows 9.90% 10.31% 29.43% 27.57% 18.77% 19.37%
Devos Performance Hall 29.31% 26.46% 31.86% 31.92% 24.89% 20.58%
Ballroom Exclusive 812% 8.75% 5.94% 5.76% 7.25% 7.99%
Meetings 19.60% 21.40% 4.68% 7.58% 10.66% 12.31%

Other 7.92% 9.73% 8.52% 3.54% 5.10% 5.92%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

DeVos Place
Balance Sheet
As of June 30, 2015

ASSETS

1,160,938
1,019,528
39,057

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

60,550
262,456
59,872
1,013,534

(1,636,536)
1,538,593
904,820
16,235

$2,219,523

$2,219,523

$1,396,411

$823,112

$2,219,523




SMG - DeVos Place

Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of June 30, 2015

Current - Under 30 Days
Food & Beverage
Ticketing
Merchandise
Decorating
Audio/Visual
Van Andel Arena
Operating

Over 30 Days

Over 60 Days

Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable

287,958
20,095

2,193
49,550
74,681

240,468

245,816

98,767

1,019,528



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2015

*#*ACTUAL FY 2015 YEAR END NUMBERS SUBJECT TO AUDIT REVIEW#***

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY

Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2014

Actual Actual Actual Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 1,440,160 16,234 1,456,394 107,686
Benchmark ++ 750,000 750,000
Excess 1,440,160 16,234 706,394 (642,314)

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Actual Actual Actual Estimate
Base Fee 171,770 171,770 343,540 336,474
Incentive Fee
Revenue 5,685,429 6,102,055 11,787,484 10,683,672
Benchmark Revenue 5,000,000 4,400,000 9,400,000 9,300,000
Revenue Excess 685,429 1,702,055 2,387,484 1,383,672
Incentive Fee ** 98,628 244 912 343,540 -
Total SMG Management Fee 270,398 416,682 687,080 336,474

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.

++ If net revenues above expenses exceeds $700,000, SMG is eligible for 75% of the incentive fee.



VAN ANDEL

ARENA

GRAND RAPIDS

VAN ANDEL ARENA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

***PRELIMARY — UNAUDITED STATEMENTS#***

PROUD HOME OF THE GRAND RAPIDS GRIFFINS - 2013 CALDER CUP CHAMPIONS

(202 (13]
\{cALDER cuP/]
[CHAVPIONS

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — KentCounty Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Joe Romano

Gary McAneney

John Szudzik

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



VAN ANDEL ARENA
ROLLING FORECAST
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2015

YTD ROLL TOTAL BUDGET
FYE FYE VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 107 107 100 7
ATTENDANCE 644,869 644,869 576,000 68,869
DIRECT EVENT INCOME 1,189,720 1,189,720 1,126,581 63,139
ANCILLARY INCOME 1,618,567 1,618,567 1,234,509 384,058
TOTAL EVENT INCOME 2,808,287 : 2,808,287 2,361,090 447,197
TOTAL OTHER INCOME 2,877,142 2,877,142 2,513,125 364,017
TOTAL INCOME 5,685,429 - 5,685,429 4,874,215 811,214
INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE 199,701 199,701 179,481 (20,220)
FINANCE 209,930 209,930 239,406 29,476
MARKETING 270,320 270,320 281,845 11,525
OPERATIONS 1,806,775 1,806,775 1,686,446 (120,329)
BOX OFFICE 118,180 118,180 127,293 9,113
LUXURY SEATING 61,146 61,146 96,234 35,088
SKYWALK ADMIN 49,459 49,459 40,960 (8.499)
OVERHEAD 1,520,758 1,529,758 1,471,385 (58,373)

TOTAL INDIRECT EXP. 4,245,269 - 4,245,269 4,123,050 (122,219)
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES 1,440,160 - 1,440,160 751,165 688,995
LESS INCENTIVE FEE 98,628 98,628 - (98,628)
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES AFTER INCENTIVE 1,440,160 (98,628) 1,341,532 751,165 590,367
Comments:

Van Andel Arena concludes a very successful fiscal year in its 19th
year with an overall performance well ahead of both budget and prior
year. A successful concert season combined with a nice playoff

run by the Griffins led to the overall success.




VAN ANDEL ARENA
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
FOR MONTH ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date
as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH June June June

Actual Budget FY 2014
Number of Events 2 1 2
Attendance 6,356 9,000 14,691
Direct Event income $2,995 $32,703 $59,839
Ancillary Income 37,829 38,805 44,031
Other Event Income 17,457 22,100 47,671
Other Operating Income 152,178 146,375 198,456
Indirect Expenses (407,598) (345,035) (619,994)
Net Income ($197,139) ($105,052) ($269,997)
YTD YTD 2015 YTD 2015 YTD 2014

Actual Budget Prior Year
Number of Events 107 100 94
Attendance 644,869 576,000 510,210
Direct Event Income $1,189,720 $1,126,581 $1,039,980
Ancillary Income 1,618,567 1,234,509 1,192,438
Other Event Income 664,924 467,500 386,288
Other Operating Income 2,212,218 2,045,625 2,104,506
Indirect Expenses (4,245,269) (4,123,050) (4,276,283)
Net Income $1,440,160 $751,165 $446,929

EVENT INCOME

Event income fell short of budget overall, however, fairly consistent with forecast.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary income came in at expected levels for the month.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in higher than budget for the month as a slower June allowed for summer projects

to get done as July will be busier.




Current Month Current Month

Van Andel Arena
Income Statement
For the Twelve Months Ending June 30, 2015

Current Month  Year to Date  Year to Date

Year to Date

Event Income

Direct Event Income
Rental Income
Service Revenue
Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary Income
F&B Concession
F&B Catering
Novelty Sales
Booth Cleaning
Audio Visual
Other Ancillary

Total Ancillary Income
Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event)

Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income

Other Operating Income
Luxury Box Agreements
Advertising
Other Income

Total Other Operating Income

Adjusted Gross Income

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages
Payroll Taxes and Benefits
Labor Allocations to Events

Net Salaries and Benefits

Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations

Repair and Maintenance
Operational Supplies
Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Total Operating Expenses

Net Income(Loss) From Operations

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Adjusted Net Income(Loss)

Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year
$128,307 $43,137 85,170 $134,756  $1,875,740  $1,591,103 284,637 $1,705,545
102,518 90,756 11,762 166,215 2,204,571 1,265,015 939,556 1,146,249
(227,830) (101,190) (126,640) (241,132)  (2,890,591)  (1,729,537)  (1,161,054)  (1,811,814)
2,995 32,703 (29,708) 59,839 1,189,720 1,126,581 63,139 1,039,980
23,987 37,020 (13,033) 30,894 1,376,415 1,073,861 302,554 1,029,879
9,931 (1,853) 11,784 5,580 139,616 69,166 70,449 97,368
3,911 4,638 (727) 7,557 99,310 91,982 7,328 64,389
0 0 0 0 2,545 0 2,545 766
0 (1,000) 1,000 0 182 (500) 682 36
0 0 0 0 500 0 500 0
37,829 38,805 (976) 44,031 1,618,567 1,234,509 384,058 1,192,438
17,457 22,100 (4,643) 47,671 664,924 467,500 197,424 386,288
17,457 22,100 (4,643) 47,671 664,924 467,500 197,424 386,288
58,281 93,608 (35,327) 161,541 3,473,211 2,828,590 644,621 2,618,706
105,917 90,292 15,625 107,354 1,612,324 1,372,625 239,699 1,393,469
42,734 52,083 (9,349) 83,183 531,618 625,000 (93,382) 658,548
3,627 4,000 (473) 7,919 68,276 48,000 20,276 52,489
152,178 146,375 5,803 198,456 2,212,218 2,045,625 166,593 2,104,506
210,459 239,983 (29,524) 349,997 5,685,429 4,874,215 811,214 4,723,212
149,671 168,565 (18,894) 195,883 2,347,334 2,005,168 342,166 1,971,573
39,200 49,080 (9,880) 59,833 676,204 589,400 86,804 551,475
(41,829) (69,891) 28,062 (63,320)  (1,290,947) (838,714) (452,233) (825,376)
147,042 147,754 (712) 192,396 1,732,591 1,755,854 (23,263) 1,697,672
23,287 20,933 2,354 21,188 238,738 251,141 (12,403) 220,005
46,300 25,206 21,094 44,545 386,710 302,604 84,106 374,099
6,923 4,122 2,801 1,876 51,802 49,420 2,382 39,024
63,380 20,665 42,715 229,740 321,089 248,090 72,999 419,517
18,445 15,435 3,010 22,843 191,454 185,000 6,454 193,597
4,233 10,727 (6,494) 19,944 179,526 128,724 50,802 150,968
83,674 86,004 (2,330) 74,033 971,589 1,031,960 (60,371) 1,013,164
14,314 14,189 125 13,429 171,770 170,257 1,513 168,237
407,598 345,035 62,563 619,994 4,245,269 4,123,050 122,219 4,276,283
(197,139) (105,052) (92,087) (269,997) 1,440,160 751,165 688,995 446,929
(197,139) (105,052) (92,087) (269,997) 1,440,160 751,165 688,995 446,929




Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

For the Twelve Months Ended June 30, 2015

SMG - Van Andel Arena

Event Summary

Event Type

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games
Other

GRAND TOTALS

As Percentage of Overall

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games

Other

Events/Days Attendance Total Event Income
Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
19 20 57,254 57,500 183,326 182,225
9 11 41,496 54,000 358,262 341,135
23 21 192,865 181,000 2,009,899 1,578,330
46 38 296,235 228,000 672,065 566,998
10 10 57,019 57,000 249,661 159,902
107 100 644,869 577,500 3,473,211 2,828,590
17.76% 20.00% 8.88% 9.96% 5.28% 6.44%
8.41% 11.00% 6.43% 9.35% 10.32% 12.06%
21.50% 21.00% 29.91% 31.34% 57.87% 55.80%
42.99% 38.00% 45.94% 39.48% 19.35% 20.05%
9.35% 10.00% 8.84% 9.87% 7.19% 5.65%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

Van Andel Arena
Balance Sheet
As of June 30, 2015

ASSETS

3,927,380
86,183
68,328

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

$4,071,890

$4,071,890

218,852
489,356
1,020,128
4,073,207

$5,801,543

(3,225,882)

904,648
(848,577)
1,440,159

($1,729,652)

$4,071,890




SMG - Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of June 30, 2015

Current - Under 30 Days

Food & Beverage 26,146

Ticketing 56,041

Merchandise -

Permanent Advertising -

DeVos Place (74,681)

Operating 39,062
Over 30 Days 39,615
Over 60 Days -
Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable 86,183



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2015

**ACTUAL FY 2015 YEAR END NUMBERS SUBJECT TO AUDIT REVIEW***

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY

Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2014

Actual Actual Actual Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 1,440,160 16,234 1,456,394 107,686
Benchmark ++ 750,000 750,000
Excess 1,440,160 16,234 706,394 (642,314)

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Actual Actual Actual Estimate
Base Fee 171,770 171,770 343,540 336,474
Incentive Fee
Revenue 5,685,429 6,102,055 11,787,484 10,683,672
Benchmark Revenue 5,000,000 4,400,000 9,400,000 9,300,000
Revenue Excess 685,429 1,702,055 2,387,484 1,383,672
Incentive Fee ** 98,628 244,912 343,540 -
Total SMG Management Fee 270,398 416,682 687,080 336,474

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.

++ If net revenues above expenses exceeds $700,000, SMG is eligible for 75% of the incentive fee.



Item 4.B.ii.

VAN ANDEL

ARENA

VAN ANDEL ARENA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JULY 31, 2015

PROUD HOME OF THE GRAND RAPIDS GRIFFINS - 2013 CALDER CUP CHAMPIONS

(2013 ]!
\{catoer cup//
[CHAMPIONS |

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — KentCounty Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Joe Romano

Gary McAneney

John Szudzik

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



VAN ANDEL ARENA
ROLLING FORECAST

FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2018

NO. EVENTS
ATTENDANCE

DIRECT EVENT INCOME
ANCILLARY INCOME

TOTAL EVENT INCOME

TOTAL OTHER INCOME
TOTAL INCOME

INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE

FINANCE
MARKETING
OPERATIONS

BOX OFFICE
LUXURY SEATING
SKYWALK ADMIN
OVERHEAD

TOTAL INDIRECT EXP.

NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES

LESS INCENTIVE FEE

NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES AFTER INCENTIVE

Comments:

The Van Andel Arena kicks off its 20th fiscal year in good fashion with
four concerts hosted during the month to give a good start to the fiscal

year.

YTD ROLL TOTAL BUDGET
FYE FYE VARIANCE
4 94 98 98 .
27,422 535,578 563,000 563,000 .
173,596 996,229 1,169,825 1,169,825 .
108,948 1,229,205 1,338,243 1,338,243 .
282,544 2,225 524 2,508,068 2,508,068 .
298,143 2,267,237 2,565,380 2,565,380 -
580,688 4,492,761 5,073,448 5,073,448
14,162 193,599 207,761 207,761
16,240 221,538 237,778 237,778 .
21,374 310,615 331,989 331,989
169,097 1,611,259 1,770,356 1,770,356 -
6,444 144,799 151,243 151,243
4,700 94,099 98,799 98,799 .
3,397 48,263 51,660 51,660 .
115,451 1,333,380 1,448,831 1,448 831 .
340,864 3,957,562 4,208,417 4,298417 .
239,824 535,200 776,031 775,031 .
5,422 5,422 5,552 130
239,824 529,787 769,609 769,479 130

X7

6ctor Of Finance




VAN ANDEL ARENA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2016

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date

as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH

Number of Events
Attendance

Direct Event iIncome
Ancillary Income

Other Event Income
Other Operating Income
Indirect Expenses

Net Income

YTD

Number of Events
Attendance

Direct Event Income
Ancillary Income

Other Event income
Other Operating income
Indirect Expenses

Net Income

EVENT INCOME

July July July
Actual Budget FY 2015
4 4 2
27,422 34,000 19,346
$173,596 $135,200 $112,309
108,948 105,936 84,312
63,294 88,440 50,298
234,849 194,616 211,155
(340,864) (358,200) (316,610)
$239,824 $165,892 $141,464
YTD 2016 YTD 2016 YTD 2015
Actual Budget Prior Year
4 4 2
27,422 34,000 19,346
$173,596 $135,200 $112,309
108,948 105,936 84,312
63,294 88,440 50,298
234,849 194,616 211,155
(340,864) (358,200) (316,610)
$239,824 $165,992 $141,464

Direct event income came in a little ahead of budget overall on the strength of the Shania Twain
and James Taylor concerts hosted during the month.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary income came in at expected levels for the month. While per caps were solid for each of

the events hosted, overall they fell at levels that we would expect overall for the year.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in at expected leveis for the month.




For the Month Ending July 31, 2015

Van Andel Arena
Income Statement

Event income

Direct Event income
Rental income
Service Revenue
Service Expenses

Total Direct Event Income

Ancillary Income
F&B Concession
F&B Catering
Novelty Sales

Totat Anciflary Income

Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates (Per Event)

Total Other Event Income

Total Event Income

Other Operating income
Luxury Box Agreements
Advertising
Other Income

Total Other Operating Income

Adjusted Gross income

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages
Payroll Taxes and Benefits
Labor Allocations to Events

Net Salaries and Benefits

Contracted Services
General and Administrative
Operations

Repair and Maintenance
Operational Supplies
Insurance

Utilities

SMG Management Fees

Tota! Operating Expenses

Net Income(Loss) From Operations

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Adjusted Net Income(Loss)

Current Month  Current Month Current Month  Year to Date  Year to Date Year to Date
Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year

$193,194 $116,948 76,246 $92,597 $193,194 $116,948 76,246 $92,597
164,625 231,304 (66.679) 259,705 164,625 231,304 (66,679) 259,705
(184,223) (213,052) 28,829 (239,993) (184,223) (213,052) 28,829 (239,993)
173,596 135,200 38,396 112,309 173,596 135,200 38,396 112,309
87,146 85,224 1,922 65.414 87,146 85,224 1,922 65,414
7,640 6,240 1,400 6,652 7,640 6,240 1,400 6,652
14,162 14,472 (310) 12,246 14,162 14,472 (310) 12,246
108,948 105,938 3,012 84,312 108,948 105,936 3,012 84,312
63,294 88,440 (25,146) 65,837 63,204 88,440 (25,146) 65,837
63,204 88,440 (25,146) 65,837 63,204 88,440 (26,146) 65,837
345,838 329,576 16,262 262,458 345,838 329,676 16,262 262,458
187,883 138,532 49,351 155,294 187,883 138,532 49,351 155,294
42,734 52,084 (9,350) 52,136 42,734 52,084 (9.350) 52,136
4,232 4,000 232 3.725 4,232 4,000 232 3,725
234,850 194,616 40,234 211,158 234,850 194,616 40,234 211,188
580,688 524,192 56,496 473,614 580,688 524,192 56,496 473,614
190,038 174,009 16,029 234,901 190,038 174,009 16,029 234,901
49,286 50,789 (1,503) 66,140 49,286 50,789 (1,503) 66,140
(95.841) (69,965) (25.676) (171.219) (95,641) (69,965) (25,676) (171,219)
143,683 154,833 {11,150) 129,822 143,683 154,833 {11,150) 129,822
18,992 20,928 (1,936) 17,149 18,992 20,928 (1,936) 17,149
19,278 30,368 (11,090) 23,151 19,278 30,368 (11,090) 23,151
2,270 7.365 (5,095) 1,473 2,270 7,365 (5,095) 1,473
19,220 21,924 (2,704) 22,934 19,220 21,924 (2,704) 22,934
30,389 15,417 14,972 27,894 30,389 15,417 14,972 27,894
9,665 10,830 (1,165) 747 9,665 10,830 (1.1685) 7,471
83,053 81,863 1,190 72,696 83,053 81,863 1,190 72,696
14,314 14,672 (358) 14,020 14,314 14,672 (358) 14,020
340,864 358,200 {17,336) 316,608 340,864 358,200 (17,336) 316,608
239,824 165,992 73,832 167,006 239,824 165,992 73,832 157,008
239,824 165,992 73,832 157,006 239,824 165,992 73,832 157,006




SMG - Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Event Summary

For the One Month Ended July 31, 2015

Event Type

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games
Other

GRAND TOTALS

As Percentage of Overall

Family Show
Sporting Event
Concert

Team Home Games

Other

Events/Days Attendance Total Event Income
Actual _Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget

4 4 27,422 34,000 345,838 329,576

4 4 27,422 34,000 345,836 329,576
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

Van Andel Arena
Balance Sheet
As of July 31, 2015

ASSETS

2,625,180
2,106,873
87,285

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

486,630
539,603
2,710,713
2,387,676

$4,819,337

$4,819,337

0]

76,247
(1,621,355)
239,824

$6,124,622

($1,305,284)

$4,819,337




SMG - Van Andel Arena
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of July 31, 2015

Current - Under 30 Days

Food & Beverage 102,327

Ticketing 55,163

Merchandise 570

Permanent Advertising 586,492

DeVos Place (130,327)

Operating 1,452,459
Over 30 Days 22,558
Over 60 Days 17,631
Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable 2,106,873



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2016

*+*ACTUAL FY 2015 YEAR END NUMBERS SUBJECT TO AUDIT REVIEW*#**

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY
Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2015
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 775,031 (4,761) 770,270 1,456,394
Benchmark ++ 750,000 750,000
Excess 775,031 (4,761) 20,270 706,394

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Actual Actual Actual Estimate
Base Fee 171,942 171,942 343,884 343,540
Incentive Fee
Revenue 5,073,448 5,913,710 10,987,158 11,787,484
Benchmark Revenue 5,050,000 4,450,000 9,500,000 9,400,000
Revenue Excess 23,448 1,463,710 1,487,158 2,387,484
Incentive Fee ** 5,422 338,462 343,884 343,540
Total SMG Management Fee 177,364 510,404 687,768 687,080

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.

++ If net revenues above expenses exceeds $700,000, SMG is eligible for 75% of the incentive fee.



DE VOS PLACE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JULY 31, 2015

Distribution:

Grand Rapids — KentCounty Convention / Arena Authority
Robert White

Joe Romano

Gary McAneney

John Szudzik

Richard MacKeigan

Chris Machuta

An SMG Managed Facllity



DE VOS PLACE
ROLLING FORECAST
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2016

TOTAL BUDGET
YTD Actual Roll FYE FYE VARIANCE

NO. EVENTS 26 441 467 467 .
ATTENDANCE 19,870 462,730 482,600 482,600 -
DIRECT EVENT REVENUE 177,674 2,761,726 2,939,400 2,939,400 -
ANCILLARY REVENUE 154,16t 2,485,699 2,639,860 2,639,860 -
TOTAL EVENT REVENUE 331,835 5,247,425 5,579,260 5,579,260 -
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 3,622 330,828 334,450 334,450 -
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 335,457 5,578,253 5,913,710 5,913,710 -
INDIRECT EXPENSES
EXECUTIVE 12,902 190,559 203,461 203,461 -
FINANCE 18,032 241,622 259,654 259,654 -
MARKETING 9,953 116,643 126,596 126,596 .
OPERATIONS 102,660 1,438,369 1,541,029 1,541,029 -
EVENT SERVICES 73,595 1,023,072 1,096,667 1,096,667 -
BOX OFFICE 9,076 82,856 91,932 91,932 -
SALES 24,319 371,729 402,048 402,048 -
OVERHEAD 186,962 2,010,122 2,197,084 2,197,084 -

TOTAL OPERATING EXP. 437,498 5,480,972 5,918,471 5,918,471 -
NET REVENUE ABOVE EXPENSES (102,041) 97,281 (4,761) (4,761) -
INCENTIVE FEE 338,462 338,462 346,578 8,116
NET OPERATING REVENUE OVER (102,041) (241,181) (343,223) (351,339) 8,116

OPERATING EXPENSES
Comments:

DeVos Place starts a new fiscal year consistent with budget overall and ahead of
prior year. The rolling forecast for the first quarter of the fiscal year will match the
budget as we have done in past years.




DE VOS PLACE ' ""‘ . _ v
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS RN
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2016

The following schedule summarizes operating results for both the current month and Year to Date
as compared to budget and prior year:

MONTH July July July

Actual Budget FY 2015
Number of Events 26 23 31
Attendance 19,870 19,425 16,842
Direct Event Income $177,674 $163,797 $148,174
Ancillary Income 154,161 205,956 115,073
Other Event Income 703 0 7,237
Other Operating Income 2,919 2,666 3,226
Indirect Expenses (437,498) (493,206) (426,713)
Net Income ($102,041) ($120,787) ($153,003)
YTD YTD 2016 YTD 2016 YTD 2015

Actual Budget Prior Year
Number of Events 26 23 31
Attendance 19,870 19,425 16,842
Direct Event Income $177,674 $163,797 $148,174
Ancillary Income 154,161 205,956 115,073
Other Event Income 703 0 7,237
Other Operating Income 2,919 2,666 3,226
Indirect Expenses (437,498) (493,206) (426,713)
Net Income ($102,041) ($120,787) ($153,003)
EVENT INCOME

Event income was consistent with budget overall.

ANCILLARY INCOME

Ancillary income fell short of budget overall, however, it was due to the type of events hosted rather than
any concern for the fiscal year as a whole. This is second consecutive summer that ancillary
income is down and will revise expectations for FY 2017 and beyond.

INDIRECT EXPENSES

Indirect expenses came in lower than budgeted for the month. Most of the savings was in paytoll
and related as many vacations were taken during the slower calendar.




DeVos Place
Income Statement
For the Month Ending July 31, 2015

Current Month  Current Month Current Month  Yearto Date  Year to Date Year to Date
Actual Budget Variance Prior Year Actual Budget Variance Prior Year
Event Income
Direct Event Income
Rental Income $218,956 $184,000 $34,856 $180,538 $218,956 $184,000 $34,956 $180,538
Service Revenue 130,608 75,415 55,193 87,043 130,608 75,415 55,193 87,043
Service Expenses (171,890) (95.618) (76,272) (119,407) (171,890) (05.618) (76,272) (119,407)
Total Direct Event Income 177,674 163,797 13,877 148,174 177,674 163,797 13,877 148,174
Ancillary Income
F&B Concesslon 9,791 6,952 2,839 7.164 9,791 6,952 2,839 7,164
F&B Catering 45,096 70,587 (25,491) 46,630 45,096 70,587 (25,491) 46,630
Novelty Sales 0 0 0 1,102 0 0 0 1,102
Booth Cleaning 20,707 26,269 (5,562) 3,725 20,707 26,269 (5,562) 3,725
Telephone/Long Distance 113 0 113 0 113 0 113 0
Electrical Services 18,037 44,894 (25,857) 7,001 19,037 44,894 (25,857) 7,001
Audio Visual 34,101 37,640 (3,639) 26,091 34,101 37,640 (3,539) 26,091
Internet Services 9,251 10,317 (1,066) 14,574 9,251 10,317 (1,066) 14,574
Equipment Rental 16,065 9,207 6,768 8,786 16,066 9,297 6,768 8,786
Total Ancillary Income 154,161 205,956 (51,795) 115,073 154,161 205,956 (51,795) 118,073
Other Event Income
Ticket Rebates(Per Event) 703 0 703 7,237 703 0 703 7,237
Total Other Event Income 703 0 703 7,237 703 0 703 7,237
Total Event Income 332,538 389,753 (37,215) 270,484 332,538 369,753 (37,218) 270,484
Other Operating income
Luxury Box Agreements 1,189 1,333 (134) 1,341 1,199 1,333 (134) 1,341
Other Income 1,720 1,333 387 1,885 1,720 1,333 3g7 1,886
Total Other Operating income 2,919 2,688 253 3,226 2,919 2,666 2583 3,226
Adjusted Gross Income 335,457 372,419 (38,962) 273,710 335,457 372,419 (36,962) 273,710
Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages 214,421 269,834 (65,413) 169,278 214,421 269,834 (65,413) 169,278
Payroll Taxes and Benefits 68,576 85,238 (16,662) 63,786 68,576 85,238 (16,662) 53,786
Labor Allocations to Events (117,358) (154,688) 37,330 (75,311) (117,358) (154,688) 37,330 (75,311)
Net Salaries and Bonefits 165,639 200,384 (34,745) 147,753 165,639 200,384 (34,745) 147,753
Contracted Services 27,497 20,820 6,677 29,887 27,497 20,820 8,677 29,887
General and Administrative 21,185 30,510 (9,325) 20,829 21,185 30,510 9.325) 20,829
Operations 5,119 11,146 (6,027) 28,882 5,119 11,146 (6.027) 28,882
Repair and Maintenance 34,565 41,350 (6.785) 41,703 34,565 41,350 (6,785) 41,703
Operational Supplies 18,013 20,225 (2.212) 8,624 18,013 20,225 (2.212) 8,624
Insurance 14,029 17,616 (3,587) 12,802 14,029 17,616 (3,587) 12,902
Utilitles 137,137 136,483 654 122,113 137,137 136.483 664 122,113
SMG Management Fees 14,314 14,672 (358) 14,020 14,314 14,672 (358) 14,020
Total Operating Expenses 437,498 493,208 (55,708) 426,713 437,498 493,208 (58,708) 426,713
Net Income(Loss) From Operations (102,041) (120,787) 18,748 (153,003) (102,041) (120,787) 16,746 (183,003)
Other Non-Operating Expenses
Adjusted Net Income(Loss) (102,041) (120,787) 18,746 (153,003) (102,041) {120,787) 16,748 (183,003)




SMG DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Year to Date Event Summary Report
For the One Month ended July 31, 2015

Events/Days Attendance Total Event Income

Event Type Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
Convention/Trade Shows 16 15 18,400 15,000 304,771 311,910
Consumer/Gated Shows 1 1 300 1,875 2,791 9,459
DeVos Performance Hall 2 - 70 - 4,483 -
Banquets - - - - - -
Meetings 6 6 650 2,100 16,887 41,064
Other 1 1 450 450 3,604 7,320
GRAND TOTALS 26 23 19,870 19,425 332,538 369,753
As Percentage of Overall

Convention/Trade Shows 61.54% 65.22% 92.60% 77.22% 91.65% 84.36%
Consumer/Gated Shows 3.85% 435% 1.51% 9.65% 0.84% 2.56%
Devos Performance Hall 7.69% 0.00% 0.35% 0.00% 1.35% 0.00%
Ballroom Exclusive 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Meetings 23.08% 26.09% 3.27% 10.81% 5.08% 11.11%

Other 3.85% 4.35% 2.26% 2.32% 1.08% 1.98%



Current Assets
Cash

Account Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Deferred Income

Advanced Ticket Sales & Deposits

Total Current Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

Funds Remitted to CAA
Expenses Paid Direct by CAA
Beginning Balance Equity
Current Year Equity

Total Equity

Total Liabllities and Equity

DeVos Place
Balance Sheet
As of July 31, 2015

ASSETS

1,578,040
848,612
35,383

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

13,163
268,510
71,083
1,262,718

0
126,457
823,148

(102,043)

$2,463,035

$2,463,035

$1,615,473

$847,562

$2,463,035




SMG - DeVos Place

Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority

Summary of Accounts Receivable
As of July 31, 2015

Current - Under 30 Days
Food & Beverage
Ticketing
Merchandise
Decorating
Audio/Visual
Van Andel Arena
Operating

Over 30 Days

Over 60 Days

Over 90 Days

Total Accounts Receivable

46,860
85,990
1,694
20,707
34,101
130,327
314,601

66,919

147,413

848,612



SMG - Van Andel Arena & DeVos Place
Grand Rapids - Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
Management Fee Summary
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2016

#+3ACTUAL FY 2015 YEAR END NUMBERS SUBJECT TO AUDIT REVIEW*#*

MANAGEMENT FEE SUMMARY
Arena DeVos Place Total FY 2015
Estimate Estimate Estimate Actual
Net Revenue above Expenses 775,031 (4,761) 770,270 1,456,394
Benchmark ++ 750,000 750,000
Excess 775,031 (4,761) 20,270 706,394

Incentive Fee Calculation (Only if above greater than zero)

Arena DeVos Place Total Total
Actual Actual Actual Estimate
Base Fee 171,942 171,942 343,884 343,540
Incentive Fee
Revenue 5,073,448 5,913,710 10,987,158 11,787,484
Benchmark Revenue 5,050,000 4,450,000 9,500,000 9,400,000
Revenue Excess 23,448 1,463,710 1,487,158 2,387,484
Incentive Fee ** 5,422 338,462 343,884 343,540
Total SMG Management Fee 177,364 510,404 687,768 687,080

** Incentive fee is 25% of the first $500,000 in excess, 30% of remaining capped at base fee amount.

++ If net revenues above expenses exceeds $700,000, SMG is eligible for 75% of the incentive fee.



Item 5

GRAND RABIDS-KENT COUNTY
L R e e s Tl o SO s s e )
ONVENTION /7 ARENA AUTHORITY

TERTAINMENT CONVENTION, SHOW & SPORIS FACILITIES

O

m
2

Memorandum
To: CAA Board of Directors
From: Rich MacKeigan
Date: August 28, 2015
Re: Application to Liquor Control Commission for Special License

As we move forward with planning the operational aspects of the upcoming International Wine,
Beer & Food Festival, the CAA will need to apply to the Michigan Liquor Control Commission
for a Special (24-Hour) On-Premise License. This license allows nonprofit, religious, fraternal,
civic, or patriotic organizations to obtain a one-day license to sell alcoholic beverages (beer,
wine, and liquor) to the public for on-premise consumption.

Specific requirements for the Special On-Premise License include:

1. Profits from the sale of alcoholic beverages must go to the organization and not to
any individual.
2. The chief local law enforcement officer in the governmental unit must approve

the request where the event is to be held.

No more than 5 licenses are issued to individual organizations each calendar year.

4, Proof of nonprofit status must be provided with the application unless the
applicant is a national organization or has obtained previous special licenses.

had

The license fee is $25.00 for each separate, consecutive day of the event. This is the same
process we go through every year, and I am recommending we apply for this license as the cost
is minimal, to allow for greater flexibility on the operational side.

Action requested: Approval to submit an application to the Michigan Liquor Control
Commission for a Special On-Premise License.



Item 6
GRAND RABIDS-KENT COUNTY

e g i e e e S P R e
et e TR S S e s S R o O e S 2
CONVENTION / ARENA AUTHORITY

ENTERTAINMENT CONVENIION, SHOW & SPORIS FACILITIES

Memorandum
To: CAA Finance Committee
CAA Board Members
From: Susan Waddell, Administrative Manager
Date: September 1, 2015
Re: Directors’ & Officers’ Insurance Renewal

The CAA current insurance policy expired on August 23, 2015 and we just received the renewal
coverage proposal. Below is a summary of the renewal proposal:

Insurer: Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority (MMRMA)
2015 Expiring premium: $18,500
2015 Renewal premium: $17,804

Total Change -$ 696

% Change (+-) -3.8%

Summary of Coverages Limit Deductible
Liability $15,000,000 $0
Terrorism Liability $5,000,000 $0
Faithful Performance Per Statute $0
Auto liability - No-Fault Per Statute $0
Buildings & Personal Property $1,010,000 $0

Fine Art $2,000,000 $0
Blanket Employee Fidelity $1,000,000 $0

Data Breach & Privacy Liability $1,000,000 $25,000

Action Requested: Approve insurance renewal proposal.



Item 7

GRAND RAPIDS-KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A
NEUTRAL HOST CELLULAR DAS LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH
CONCOURSE COMMUNICATION GROUP, LLC

Boardmember , supported by Boardmember , moves

the adoption of the following resolution:

WHEREAS, the Board at its meeting on October 5, 2014, authorized SMG along with
the assistance of legal counsel to negotiate an agreement with Boingo a.k.a. Concourse
Communication Group, LLC (“CCG™) to provide a neutral host cellular distributed antenna
system (“DAS”) in conjunction with a full WiFi system at the Van Andel Arena; and

WHEREAS, a DAS agreement without a full WiFi system has been negotiated with
CCG which SMG has recommended be approved; and

WHEREAS, this Board has agreed to approve a DAS agreement with CCG to provide
DAS service at the Van Andel Arena.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:

1. That the Neutral Host Cellular DAS License Agreement (the “Agreement”)
between the Grand Rapids — Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the “CAA”) and CCG in
the form presented at this meeting is approved with such modifications not materially adverse to
the CAA approved as to content by the CAA Chairperson and as to form by CAA legal counsel.

2. That the CAA Chairperson is authorized and directed to execute the approved
Agreement for and on behalf of the CAA.

3. That all resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict herewith shall be, and the

same are hereby, rescinded to the extent of such conflict.



YEAS: Boardmembers

NAYS: Boardmembers

ABSTAIN: Boardmembers

ABSENT: Boardmembers

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Dated: September 4, 2015

Susan M. Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned duly qualified and acting Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary
of the Grand Rapids-Kent County Convention/Arena Authority (the "CAA"), do hereby certify
that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the CAA Board at a
regular meeting held on September 4, 2015, and that public notice of said meeting was given
pursuant to, and in compliance with, Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as
amended.

Dated: September 4, 2015

Susan M. Waddell
Administrative Manager/Recording Secretary

GRAPIDS 61448-188 376733v1



2/26/15 RAW

NEUTRAL HOST CELLULAR DAS LICENSE
AGREEMENT

THIS NEUTRAL HOST CELLULAR DAS LICENSE AGREEMENT (the
“Agreement”) dated as of , 2015, by and between the GRAND RAPIDS-KENT
COUNTY CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY, a statutory authority created by the City of
Grand Rapids, Michigan (the “City”), and the County of Kent, Michigan (the “County’), pursuant
to Act 203 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1999, as amended (the “Licensor”) and
CONCOURSE COMMUNICATION GROUP, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (the
“Licensee”).

RECITALS

A. Licensor leases-to-own (ownership to occur upon payment of certain outstanding bonded
debt) the Van Andel Arena (the “Arena”) located at 130 West Fulton Street in the City pursuant to
a Lease Agreement dated as of July 1, 2000, by and between the City of Grand Rapids Downtown
Development Authority (the “DDA™), as Lessor, and Licensor, as Leasee.

B. Licensee has requested of Licensor the right to use certain portions of the Arena facility
(the “Arena Building”) to install, operate and maintain a neutral host cellular distributed antenna
system (“DAS”, “System” or “Systems”).

C. Licensor has agreed to permit the Systems to be installed, operated and maintained at the
Arena Building to provide wireless DAS services to the Arena and its guests and visitors and in
connection therewith grant Licensee a license to use certain portions of the Arena Building all in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

D. Licensee will be the lead integrator for the Systems and, as such, will (i) design, construct,
install, operate, maintain and from time to time upgrade the Systems to meet the standards
prescribed by this Agreement and (ii) contract with wireless operators, licensed by the Federal
Communications Commission, and other third party entities as permitted by law (each a “Carrier”,
or collectively, “Carriers”) for connection to and use of the Systems, all as provided in this
Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual undertakings as set forth
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, Licensor and Licensee agree as follows:

Section 1. Recitals Incorporated. The Recitals set forth above in this Agreement are
incorporated herein as set forth in their entirety.

Section 2. Operation of Systems. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
Licensee shall have the exclusive right and obligation to install, operate and maintain the Systems
at the Arena and to make the Systems available to Carriers and third parties, as applicable, upon
reasonable terms and conditions in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Licensor agrees
during the term of this Agreement not to grant or permit a license, lease or any other right to any

1



third party for use of any portion of the Arena to install, operate or maintain a cellular DAS network
cxcept for any networks being operated under agreements in effect or in use on the Effective Date
(as defined in Section 26.M. hereof) of this Agreement. It is understood and agreed that DAS
service through specific carriers shall be available to guests, visitors and other users of the Arena
without additional charges other than the charges such users pay directly to their carrier(s). Section
3. Licensed Space. Licensor hereby licenses to Licensee and Licensee hereby licenses from
Licensor (a) an area in the Arena Building containing approximately 1,000 square feet identified
on the attached Exhibit A (the “Equipment Space”) and (b) areas located throughout the Arena
Building for the placement of antennas as identified on the attached Exhibit A or such other areas
as Licensor and Licensee mutually approve in writing after good faith consultation (the “Antenna
Spaces”). Additionally, Licensor grants Licensee a license over, under, along and through the
Arena Building in locations reasonably determined necessary by Licensee, from time to time,
which will not unreasonably interfere with the Arena operations and as are mutually agreed to by
the Licensor and Licensee in writing after good faith consultation (the “Connections Spaces™ and
collectively with the Equipment Space and the Antenna Space the “Licensed Space”) to install,
maintain, repair, replace and remove conduits, wires, cables, cable trays and other necessary
connections between the Equipment Space and the electric power, telephone and fuel sources at
the Arena Building (collectively, the “Connections™). It is understood that in some cases Carriers
may require more space than that available within the Licensed Space. In such cases it shall be
the responsibility for such Licensor to contract directly with the Licensor on behalf of the Carriers
for such space.

Section 4. Use of Licensed Space. Licensce shall have the right to use the Licensed Space
in accordance with, and subject to, the following:

a. Licensee is granted the cxclusive use of the Equipment Space and the Antenna Space
and the nonexclusive use of the Conncctions Space for the installation, construction, maintenance,
operation, repair, replacement and upgrade of the Systems and any and all other related
communications fixtures, small cell technology and related cquipment, cables, accessories and
improvements as may be needed by Licensee (or by those with whom it has an agreement to utilize
the Systems) from time-to-time to provide for the continuous transmission and reception of
communication signals including suitable support structures, antennas, equipment shelters or
cabinets, security barriers and any other items necessary to the successful and secure operation of
the Systems (collectively, the “Communication Facilities”).

b. Licensee may, with the prior written approval of Licensor, make, at its sole cost,
improvements, alterations, upgrades or additions to the Licensed Space necessary in connection
with the operation and maintenance of the Systems.

c. If Licensee requires additional space at the Arena Building (the “Additional Licensed
Space™) in connection with modifications, replacements or upgrades of the Communication
Facilities, Licensor agreed to provide such Additional Licensed Space to Licensee if Licensor
determines such space is available. The Additional Licensed Space shall be subject to the terms
and conditions of this Agreement, provided, however, the Licensee Fee (as defined in Section 6
hereof) shall be increased by a proportional amount equal to the percentage increase of the
Additional Licensed Space square footage over the existing Equipment Space square footage.

2



Licensor and Licensee agree to enter into an amendment to this Agreement to effectuate and
memorialize the license of the Additional Licensed Space.

d. Licensee shall, at its sole cost, design, construct, install and maintain the System, i.e.
full voice and data cellular coverage, throughout the Arena Building (the “Project™) including, but
not limited to, administrative areas, support staff locations, arena floor, upper and lower bowl seats
and suites, meeting rooms, hallways, back-of-house areas and other general spaces, in accordance
with Technical Standards set forth in Exhibit C (the “Technical Standards”) and Operation
Standards set forth in Exhibit D (the “Operation Standards™) and the drawings referenced in
Exhibit E (the “Preliminary Design’) and according to participating Carrier specifications and the
provisions of this Agreement (the “Project™) as may be modified or supplemented by approved
Project Plans (as defined in Section 9 hereof). Such construction to be contingent upon the
commencement of the first Carrier signed lease.

e. Itisunderstood and agreed that Licensee will not be providing as a part of DAS service
a public safety communications system, VHF, UHF or two-way radio communications and
Licensor may utilize or permit the utilization of the Licensed Space in connection with the
provisions of such services subject to the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 5. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall be in
accordance with the following:

a. This Agreement shall have an initial term of 10 years commencing on the first
commencement of carrier service by a Carrier (the *“Commencement Date”) and ending on the day
before the tenth anniversary of the Commencement Date (the “Initial Term”).

b. Licensor may elect to extend the Initial Term for an additional 5 years, commencing
on the tenth anniversary of the Commencement Date and ending five years thereafter (the
“Extension Term”) upon at least 90 days written notice to Licensee prior to expiration of the Initial
Term, provided, however, upon receiving such notice Licensee may elect not to extend the Initial
Term by giving at least 60 days written notice to Licensor prior to the expiration of the Initial
Term.

c. If, at least 60 days prior to the end of the Extension Term, Licensor or Licensee has not
given the other written notice to end the term of this Agreement at the end of the Extension Term,
the term of this Agreement shall continue for additional | year terms (each an “Annual Term”)
until the term of this Agreement is terminated by either Licensor or Licensee giving the other at
least 60 days advanced written notice to terminate the Agreement at the then current Annual Term.

d. Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Section 5 and acknowledging that
Licensee has the exclusive right to market to Carriers their utilization of DAS at the Arena for 90
days after the Effective Date which period may be extended by the Licensor in writing upon request
of the Licensee for an additional 30 days (the “Marketing Period”). If Licensee does not provide
Licensor before the end of such Marketing Period with documentation from at least one Carrier
agreeing to utilize DAS at the Arena, the Licensor may terminate this Agreement upon 10 days
written notice to Licensee.



Section 6. License Fees and Revenue Sharing. The following license fees and revenuc
sharing shall apply with respect to this Agreement:

a. Within 30 days of Licensee signing an agreement with the first Carrier agreeing to
utilize DAS at the Arena, Licensee shall pay Licensor a fee of $50,000. Within 30 days of Licensee
signing an agreement to utilize DAS at the Arena with (i) the second Carrier, Licensee shall pay
Licensor a fee of $50,000 and (ii) the third Carrier, Licensee shall pay Licensor a fee of $50,000.

b. Commencing with the Commencement Date, Licensee shall pay Licensor a monthly
license fee (the “License Fee™) in accordance with the following schedule:

1. Initial Term years 1 and 2 - $3,000 per calendar month
2. Initial Term years 3, 4 and S - $5,500 per calendar month
3. Initial Term years 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 - $8,000 per calendar month

4. Each year of the Extension Term or an Annual Term — the monthly amount payable
in the prior year plus 10%

For any partial calendar month, the monthly License Fee shall be prorated.

d. The obligation to pay amounts duc prior to termination pursuant to this Section 6 shall
survive and be enforceable after the termination of this Agrcement.



Section 7. Management of Project. Licensor and Licensee agree that M S Benbow &
Associates, Metairie, Louisiana (“Benbow™), shall be Licensor’s representative related to the
initial construction and installation of the Project and shall be the primary contact between the
Licensee and its subcontractors and the Licensor. Licensee shall be responsible for negotiating
with Benbow the cost of providing such services and the paying of such costs by Licensee. The
Licensor shall not be responsible for paying any of Benbow’s costs for its services. During
construction and installation of the Project, Benbow shall regularly consult with Licensee, as
Licensor’s representative, regarding the progress of Project construction and installation through
Project completion. Licensee has appointed John Bergeron as manager of the Project (the “Project
Manager”). He shall (i) serve as the single point of contact for communications with Benbow, as
Licensor’s representative, (ii) act as the liaison between Benbow, as Licensor’s representative, and
Licensee’s employees and subcontractors, (iii) attend on-site meetings, both scheduled and
unscheduled, (iv) be on-site to oversee the work and keep the Project on schedule and (v) regularly
update Benbow and Licensor regarding the Project status. Licensee shall promptly notify Benbow,
as Licensor’s representative, of any change in the person serving as Project Manager. Any new
person serving as Project Manager shall have substantial experience in the design, construction
and installation of facilities and cquipment similar to those that comprise the Communication
Facilities. In consultation with Benbow, as Licensor’s representative, Licensee shall prepare and
submit to Benbow a timeline for completion of the site survey, planning, installation, testing and
other milestones related to the Project, which Benbow shall share with Licensor. Any changes in
the Project timeline, which would delay a milestone critical to Project completion, shall require
Benbow’s consent after Benbow has consulted with Licensor.

Section 8. Inspection and Review. Licensor’s representatives, including Benbow, shall
have the right to inspect the Communication Facilities from time to time and Licensee shall
cooperate with Licensor’s representatives, including Benbow, by providing them reasonable
access to the Communication Facilities for inspection. Licensor’s representatives, including
Benbow, shall have the right to review copies of all documents prepared and/or in the possession
of Licensee or its subcontractor’s with respect to the Communication Facilities, all invoices and
Licensee books and records related to the Project and the Communication Facilities upon
reasonable advanced notice to Licensee.

Section 9. Project Preconstruction. The following design and planning shall take place
in connection with the Project:

a. Project Design — In consultation with Licensor and Benbow, as Licensor’s
representative, Licensee shall, at its sole cost, promptly upon execution of an agreement with the
first Carrier to utilize DAS complete design of the Systems and prepare or cause to be prepared
detailed drawings, plans and specifications meeting the Technical Standards and consistent with
the Preliminary Design, as such designs may be modified or supplemented by the approved Project
Plans (as defined below).

b. Project planning — Licensee shall diligently prosecute, at its sole cost, all activities
necessary to finally design the Communication Facilities and plan for prosecution of the Project
including the following:



1. Prepare detailed drawings, plans and specifications for the Communication
Facilities and other related documentation including a layout of the network design (the *“Project
Plans™).

2. Submit the Project Plans to Licensor through its representative, Benbow, for
approval. Licensor, through its representative Benbow, shall either approve or give notice of its
disapproval of the Project Plans along with the reasons therefore and the requirements necessary
to obtain approval not later than 20 business days after receipt of the Project Plans. In lieu of
submitting all of the Project Plans at once, Licensee may submit the Project Plans in part for
significant portions of the Project for review and approval by Licensor, through its representative,
Benbow.

Section 10. Construction of Project. Licensce shall, at its sole cost, construct and install
or cause the construction and installation of the Project, i.e. the Communication Facilities, in
accordance with the Project Plans and as follows:

a. Construction and installation of any portion of the Project may only begin upon
approval by Licensor as provided in Section 9.b.2 hereof.

b. Construction and installation of the Project shall be substantially completed and
successfully tested within 210 calendar days after the execution by Licensee of an agreement with
the first Carrier.

Section 11. Arena Building Access. During construction of the Project (the
“Construction Period”) Licensee and its subcontractors shall have access to the Arena Building in
accordance with the following:

a. In general, throughout the Construction Period, Licensor will afford Licensee and its
subcontractors full and free access to the Arena Building, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week for
purposes of performing work necessary to complete the Project, other than during Blackout Dates
(as hereinafter defined) and Restricted Access Dates (as hereinafter defined). Access to the Arena
on Blackout Dates and Restricted Access Dates will be permitted as provided in subsections b. and
c. below. Licensee’s employecs, agents and subcontractors, including subcontractor’s employees
(collectively, the “Licensee’s Workers”), shall not be permitted any access to the Arena Building
without required credentials supplied by Licensor.

b. The Arena Building is unavailable for work during the Construction Period on the dates
listed on Exhibit F (the “Blackout Dates™) and Licensee’s Workers may not access the Arena
Building on the Blackout Dates without the advanced written approval of Licensor. Licensor may
provide Licensee with limited access to the Arena Building on Blackout Dates if Licensor
determines, in its sole discretion, that such access will not interfere with an event or activity at the
Arena Building and Licensor is not otherwise prohibited from permitting such access.
Specifically, Licensor shall permit access to the Arena Building on a Blackout Date if one of the
following conditions are met: (i) the area or locations being accessed are not a part of the Arena
Building being used for the event or activity giving rise to the Blackout Date and there is not
expected to be any visibility of the work to the participants or attendees of such event or activity;

6



(i1) access occurs prior to an event and the participants and attendees will not be adversely impacted
by the work then being performed, provided work shall stop a minimum of 3 hours prior to the
start of the event or activity; or (iii) access occurs after the event or activity has ended and the
participants and attendees have left the Arena, Building provided, work shall not begin sooner than
3 hours after the end of the event or activity.

c. Licensor may restrict access of Licensee’s Workers to the Arena Building on any
additional date during the Construction Period (a “‘Restricted Access Date™) by sending written
notice thereof to Licensee, provided, however, on a Restricted Access Date Licensor shall permit
Licensee’s Workers access to the Arena Building during times of day which will not interfere with
Licensor or an event or activity at the Arena Building as reasonably determined by Licensor.

d. During the Term of this Agreement, after the Construction Period, Licensor shall give
Licensee full and free access to the Arena Building 24 hours a day, 7 days a week other than during
Blackout Dates and Restricted Access Dates for the purpose of performing work necessary to
operate and maintain the Communication Facilities. Access to the Arena Building on Blackout
Dates and Restricted Access Dates will be permitted as provided in subsections b. and c. above.
Licensee’s employees, agents and subcontractors including subcontractor’s employees, shall not
be permitted access to the Arena Building without required credentials supplied by Licensor.
Licensor will work with Licensee on a case by case basis for access during emergency situations
to restore Systems service at the Arena Building.

Section 12. Suitability and Required Approvals. Licensor agrees that Licensee’s ability
to use the Arena Building is contingent upon the suitability of the Arena Building for operation of
the Systems and Licensee’s ability to obtain and maintain all governmental licenses, permits,
approvals and other relief required of, or deemed necessary or appropriate by, Licensee for its use
of the Arena Building and operation of the Systems (the “Government Approvals™). Licensor
authorizes Licensee to prepare, execute and file all required applications to obtain required
Government Approvals and agrees to reasonably assist Licensee with such applications and with
obtaining and maintaining the Government Approvals. In addition, Licensee shall have the right
to initiate the ordering and/or scheduling of any necessary utilities required to operate the
Communication Facilities. Licensee may also perform and obtain, at its sole cost, test or reports
on, over and under the Arena Building, necessary to determine if Licensee’s use of the Arena
Building for operation of the Communication Facilities is compatible with the Communication
Facilities’ specifications, design, operations or Government Approvals, if any.

Section 13. Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may be terminated without
penalty or further liability, except for any amounts due and payable pursuant to Section 6 hereof
and the indemnity provisions of Section 15 and 26.A. hereof which shall remain in effect, as
follows:

a. by either party upon 30 days prior written notice to the other party, if the other party
remains in default under Section 20 hereof after expiration of any applicable cure periods; or



b. by Licensee upon written notice by Licensor, if Licensee is unable to obtain or maintain
any required approval(s) or the issuance of any required license or permit necessary for
construction and installation or operation of the Systems.

Section 14. Insurance. During the Term of this Agreement the Licensee shall, at its cost,
procure and maintain the following types of insurance:

a. All Risk. All risk insurance for its property located at the Arena Building in an amount
cqual to its replacement cost.

b. Workers’ Compensation. Workers” Compensation insurance comply with the
requirements of the State of Michigan or an approved self-insurance program.

c. General Liability. Comprehensive general liability and casualty insurance naming the
Licensor, the manager of the Arena, SMG, the DDA, the City and the County as additional insureds
(the “Additional Insureds™) with coverage in the minimum amount of $3,000,000 combined singlc
limit and in the annual aggregate (which may be provided by a base policy and one or more
umbrella policies) insuring against bodily injury and death and property damage.

Licensee shall forward to Licensor for approval a certificate, or certificates, issued by the issuer(s)
of the insurance required under the foregoing provisions. Such certificate(s) shall be in a form
satisfactory to the Licensee and shall list the various coverage’s and limits. Insurance companies
providing the coverage must carry at least an “A” rating by A.M. Best. In addition to any
provisions herein before required, a provision of such insurance policies required by c. above shall
be that the policies shall not be changed or canccled, and they will be automatically renewed upon
cxpiration and continued in full force and cffect during the Term of this Agreement, unless
Licensor and the other Additional Insureds are given 30 days written notice before any change or
cancellation is made effective. Licensce shall promptly furnish the Licensor with a certified copy
of cach such insurance policy upon request. All insurance shall be procured from insurance
companies licensed and authorized to do business in the State of Michigan. If at any time the
insurance policies required in b. and c. above should be canceled, terminated or modified so that
the insurance is not in full-force and effect as required herein, Licensor may terminate this
Agreement for default or obtain insurance coverage equal to that required herein, the full cost of
which shall be charged to Licensee and shall be reimbursed by Licensee to Licensor within 30
days after written demand therefor. Certificates of insurance shall be provided to the Licensor at
the time this Agreement is executed by both parties hereto.

Section 15. Interference. If there is an existing radio frequency user(s) in the Arena
Building, Licensor will provide Licensee, upon execution of this Agreement, with a list of all such
cxisting radio frequency user(s) to permit Licensce to evaluate the potential for interference.
Licensee warrants that its operation of the Communication Facilities at the Arena Building will
not interfere with existing radio frequency user(s) in the Arena Building so disclosed by Licensor,
as long as the existing radio frequency user(s) operate and continue to operate within their
respective frequencies and in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, manufacturer’s
specifications and standards. Licensor will not grant or permit, after the Effective Date of this
Agreement, a license or any other right to any third party for the use at the Arena Building, if such

8



use may in any way adversely affect or interfere with the Communication Facilities, the operations
of Licensee of the Communication Facilities or the rights of Licensee under this Agreement.
Licensor will not use, nor will Licensor permit its employees, licensee, invitees, agents or
independent contractors to use, any portion of the Arena Building in any way which interferes with
the Communication Facilities, the operations of Licensee of the Communication Facilities or the
rights of Licensee under this Agreement. Licensor will cause such interference to cease within 72
hours after receipt of notice of interference from Licensee. For the purposed of this Section 15,
“interference” may include, but is not limited to, any use at the Arena Building that causes
clectronic, physical or obstruction interference with, or degradation of, the communications signals
to and/or from the Communication Facilities.

Section 16. Indemnification. The Licensee agrees to and shall indemnify, defend and
hold harmless the Licensor, SMG, the DDA, City and County and their respective officers,
boardmembers, commissioners, employees and agents (the “Indemnified Party” or “Indemnified
Parties”) from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, causes of action, suits, liens and
liability of every kind (including all expenses of litigation, expert witness fees, court costs and
attorney’s fees) by or to any person or entity (collectively the “Liabilities”) arising out of, caused
by, or resulting from acts or omissions of Licensee, its subcontractors, their respective agents or
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them in performing services under this
Agreement, and provided such claim is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death of
any person, or injury to or destruction of property, regardless of whether or not such claim, damage,
loss or expense is caused in part by an Indemnified Party hereunder, so long as such Liabilities are
not caused by the negligence or wiliful misconduct of such Indemnified Party. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, no party shall be entitled to indemnity to the extent of its own negligence or gross
negligence. Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge or otherwise reduce other
rights or obligations of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to a party or person described
in this Section 16. If any action at law or suit in equity is instituted by any third party against one
or more Indemnified Parties arising out of or resulting from the acts of the Licensee, its
subcontractors, their respective agents or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them
in performing services under this Agreement, and if the Licensee has failed to provide insurance
coverage to such Indemnified Parties(y) against such action as required herein or otherwise refuses
to defend such action, such Indemnified Parties(y) shall have the right to conduct and control,
through counsel of their (its) choosing, the defense of any third party claim, action or suit, and may
compromise or settle the same, provided that such Indemnified Parties(y) shall give the Licensee
advance notice of any proposed compromise or settlement. The Indemnified Parties(y) shall
permit the Licensee to participate in the defense of any such action or suit through counsel chosen
by the Licensee, provided that the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be borne by the
Licensee. If Indemnified Parties(y) permit the Licensee to undertake, conduct and control the
conduct and settlement of such action or suit, the Licensee shall not consent to any settlement that
does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving of a complete release from liability
with respect to such action or suit to Indemnified Parties(y). The Licensee shall promptly
reimburse the Indemnified Parties(y) for the full amount of any damages, including fees and
expenses of counsel for the Indemnified Parties(y) incurred in connection with any such action.
The Indemnified Parties are not waving any statutory Immunity they are otherwise entitled to.



Section 17. Representations and Covenants. The following covenants and warranties
are made by the parties hereto:

a. Licensee and Licensor each acknowledge and represent that it is duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing and has the right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement
and bind itself hereto through the party set forth as signatory for the party below.

b. Licensor represents, covenants and agrees that (i) Licensor has control over the use and
operation of the Arena Building, (ii) the Arena Building is not and will not be encumbered by any
liens, restrictions, mortgages, covenants, conditions, easements, leases, or any other agreements of
record or not of record, which would adversely affect Licensee’s license to use the Arena Building
pursuant to this Agreement, (iii) as long as Licensee is not in default under this Agreement
Licensor grants to Lessee a license to use the Arena Building to construct, install, use and maintain
the Communication Facilities, (iv) Licensor’s execution and performance of this Agreement will
not violate any laws, ordinances, covenants or the provisions of any mortgage, lease or other
agreement binding on Licensor, and (v) Licensor has obtained all consents and approvals necessary
to enter into this Agreement and to grant Licensee the rights hereunder.

c. Licensee represents and covenants that the Communication Facilitics shall be
constructed and installed as provided in this Agreement, shall operatc as such Communication
Facilities are intended to operate and shall be, at its costs, updated and keep current during the
Term of this Agreement with the latest “statc-of-the-art” technology and equipment relative to
similarly situated and sized venues, and such upgrades will be performed at the expense of Carriers
upon mutual agreement between Licensee and such Carriers.

Section 18. Removal and Restoration. All portions of the Communication Facilities
brought into the Arena Building by Licensee will be and remain Licensee’s personal property,
regardless of whether any portion is deemed real or personal property under applicable law.
Licensor agrees that no part of the Communications Facilities constructed, erected or placed in the
Arena Building by Licensee will become, or be considered as being affixed to or a part of, the
Arena Building property, it being the specific intention of Licensor that all Communication
Facilities improvements of every kind and nature constructed, erected or placed by Licensee in the
Arena Building will be and remain the property of Licensee. Within 120 days after the termination
of this Agreement, Licensee will remove all of the property consisting of the Communication
Facilities, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Licensor and Licensee, and will restore the
remainder of the Licensed Area in the Arena Building to its condition at the commencement of
this Agreement, reasonable wear and tear and loss by casualty or other causes beyond Licensee’s
control excepted.

Section 19. Maintenance and Extension of Utilities. Licensee will keep and maintain
the Licensed Area of the Arena Building in good condition, reasonable wear and tear and damage
from the elements excepted. Licensor will keep and maintain the Arena Building excluding the
Equipment Space and Antenna Space, and access thereto and all areas of the Licensed Area where
Licensee does not have exclusive control, in good condition, subject to reasonable wear and tear
and damage from the elements. Licensor will cooperate with any utility company requesting
access over, under and across the property where the Arena Building is located in order for the

10



utility company to provide such service to the Licensee as Licensee may require in furtherance of
the use and operation of the Communication Facilities. Licensee shall be responsible for ordering
separate utility services which Licensee may require from time to time for the use and operation
of the Communication Facilities, and maintaining such Communication Facilities during the Term
of this Agreement at Licensee’s sole cost. Specifically, Licensee shall be responsible for the cost
of bringing the T-1 and/or such other telephone service from the main (or minimum) point of entry
at the Arena Building to the Equipment Space or such other location at the Arena Building as
Licensee shall designate with Licensor’s approval for the construction, installation, operation and
use of the Communication Facilities.

Section 20. Default. The following is deemed a default by Licensor and a breach of this
Agreement: (i) non-payment of the License Fee due Licensor if such License Fee due Licensor
remains unpaid for more than 30 days after receipt of written notice from Lessor of such failure to
pay, (ii) the voluntary or involuntary filing by or against Licensee for liquidation, dissolution, sale
or other disposition of all or substantially all of its assets, the marshalling of its assets and
liabilities, receivership, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, reorganization,
composition of creditors or other similar proceeding affecting Licensee or any of its assets or the
validity or enforceability of Licensee’s obligations and covenants under this Agreement which
remains undismissed 90 days after such filing, or (iii) Licensee’s failure to perform any other term
or condition or breach of any warranty or covenant under this Agreement within 30 days after
receipt of written notice from Licensor specifying the failure (except as otherwise provided in
Section 14 hereof). No such failure under (iv) above, however, will be deemed to exist if Licensee
has commenced to cure such default within such period and provided that such efforts are
prosecuted to completion with reasonable diligence (except as otherwise provided in Section 14
hereof). Delay in curing a default will be excused if due to causes beyond the reasonable control
of Licensee. If Licensee remains in default beyond any applicable cure period, Licensor will have
the right to exercise any and all rights and remedies available to it under law or equity, including
the right of termination of this Agreement set forth in Section 13 hereof.

The following is deemed a default by Licensor and a breach of this Agreement: (i) the
voluntary or involuntary filing by or against Licensor for liquidation, dissolution, sale or other
disposition of all or substantially all of its assets, the marshalling of its assets and liabilities,
receivership, bankruptcy, assignment for the benetit of creditors, reorganization, composition of
creditors or other similar proceedings affecting Licensor or any of its assets or the validity or
enforceability to Licensor’s obligation’s and covenants under this Agreement which remains
undismissed 90 days after such filing, or (ii) Licensor’s failure to perform any term or condition
or breach of any warranty or covenant under this Agreement within 30 days after receipt of written
notice from Licensee specifying the failure. No such failure, however, will be deemed to exist if
Licensor has commenced to cure the default within such period and provided such efforts are
prosecuted to completion with reasonable diligence. Delay in curing a default will be excused if
due to causes beyond the reasonable control of Licensor. [If Licensor remains in default beyond
any applicable cure period, Licensee shall have (y) the right to cure Licensor’s default and to
deduct the costs of such cure from any monies due to Licensor from Licensee, and (z) any and all
other rights available to it under law or equity.



Section 21. Notices. All notices given pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, or
necessary to carry out its provisions, shall be in writing, and delivered personally, mailed by
certified or registered mail return receipt requested, or sent by nationally recognized commercial
overnight delivery service to:

If to Licensor:
Grand Rapids — Kent County Convention/Arena Authority
130 West Fulton Street
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503
Attention: Executive Director

If to Licensee:
Concourse Communication Group, LLC
C/0O Boingo Wireless, Inc.
10960 Wilshire Blvd. 23™ Floor
Los Angcles, CA. 90024
Attention: VP- DAS

With a copy to:
Legal Department (same address)

Such notice shall be deemed dclivered on the day of personal delivery, 3 days after deposit for
delivery postage pre-paid by certified or registered mail return receipt requested, or | business day
after deposit for delivery by nationally recognized commercial overnight delivery service. Either
party may change the place for giving notice by notice to the other party as provided in this Section
21.

Section 22. Condemnation. In the cvent Licensor receives notification of any
condemnation proceedings affccting the Arena Building, Licensor will provide notice of the
proceeding to Licensee within 72 hours of receiving notice. 1fa condemning authority takes all of
the Arena, or a portion sufficient, in Licensee’s sole determination, to render the Arena Building
unsuitable for the use by Licensee of the Arena Building for use and operation of the
Communication Facilities, this Agreement will terminate as of the date the title vests in the
condemning authority. The parties will each be entitled to pursue their own separate awards in the
condemnation proceedings. Licensee shall be entitled to reimbursement for any prepaid License
Fecs on a prorated basis.

Section 23. Casualty. Licensor will provide notice to Licensee of any casualty or other
harm affecting the Arena Building within 72 hours of the casualty or harm. If any part of the
Communication Facilities are damaged as to render them unsuitable for use and operation, in
Licensee’s sole determination, Licensee may terminate this Agreement by providing written notice
to Licensor, which termination will be effective as of the date of such casualty or other harm.
Upon such termination, Licensee will be entitled to collect all insurance proceeds payable to
Licensee on account thereof and to be reimbursed for any prepaid License Fee on a prorated basis.
If Licensor or Licensee undertakes to rebuild or restore the Arena Building and/or the
Communication Facilities, respectively and as applicable, Licensor agrees to permit Licensee to

12



place temporary transmission and reception facilities at the Arena Building property at no
additional License Fees until the reconstruction of the Arena Building and/or the Communication
Facilities is completed.

Section 24. Waiver of Liens. Licensor waives any and all lien rights it may have, statutory
or otherwise, concerning the Communication Facilities or any portions thereof.

Section 25. Property Taxes. Licensor shall be responsible for payment of all ad volorem
real and personal property taxes, if any, levied upon the lands, improvements and other property
of Licensor. Licensee shall be responsible for all ad volorem real and personal property taxes
levied upon Licensee’s property at or on the Arena Building.

Section 26. Miscellaneous.

A. Environmental and Hazardous Material. Licensee shall not cause or permit the escape,
disposal or release of any chemical, biologically active or other hazardous substances or materials.
Licensee shall not allow the storage or use of such substances or materials in any manner not
sanctioned by law or in compliance with the prevailing standards in the industry for the storage
and use of such substances or materials, nor allow to be brought into or unto the Licensed Space
any such materials or substances except to use in the ordinary course of activities permitted
hereunder. Licensee covenants and agrees that the Licensed Space will at all times during its use
or occupancy thereof be kept and maintained so as to comply with all now existing or hereafter
enacted or issued statutes, laws, rules, ordinances, orders, permits and regulations of all
environmental, State of Michigan, federal, local and other governmental and regulatory authorities,
agencies and bodies applicable to the Licensed Space, and the Licensee expressly agrees to
indemnify and save harmless the Licensor from any and all loss, cost or expense, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, occasioned by failure of the Licensee so to comply.

B. Amendment/Waiver. This Agreement may not be amended, assigned, modified or revised
unless done in writing and signed by Licensor and Licensee. No provision may be waived except
in writing signed by both parties. The failure by a party to enforce any provision of this Agreement
or to require performance by the other party will not be construed to be a waiver or in any way
affect the right of either party to enforce such provision thereafter.

C. Limitation of Liability. Except for the indemnity obligations set forth in this Agreement,
and otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Licensor and Licensee
each waives any claims that each may have against the other with respect to consequential,
incidental or special damages, however caused, based on any theory of liability.

D. Bind and Benefit. The terms and conditions contained in this Agreement will bind and
inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

E. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the exhibits attached hereto, all being a part hereof,
constitute the entire agreement of the parties hereto and will supersede all prior offers, negotiations
and agreements with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

13



F. Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan,
without regard to conflicts of law.

G. Interpretation. Unless otherwise specified, the following rules of construction and
interpretation apply: (i) captions are for convenience and reference only and do not define or limit
the construction of the terms and conditions hereof; (ii) use of the tem “including” will be
interpreted to mean “including but not limited to”; (iii) whenever a party’s consent is required
under this Agreement, except as otherwise stated in the Agreement or as same may be duplicative,
such consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; (iv) exhibits are an
integral part of this Agreement and are incorporated by reference into this Agreement; (v) use of
the terms “termination” or “expiration” are interchangeable; (vi) reference to a default will take
into consideration any applicable notice, grace and cure periods; (vii) to the extent there is any
issue with respect to any alleged, perceived or actual ambiguity in this Agreement, the ambiguity
shall not be resolved on the basis of who drafted the Agreement; and (viii) the singular use of the
words includes the plural where appropriate.

H. Affiliates. All references to “Licensee” shall be deemed to include any Affiliate of
Licensee using and operating the Communication Facilities or otherwise cxercising the rights of
Licensee pursuant to this Agreement. “Affiliate” means with respect to a party to this Agreement,
any person or entity that, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or under common control
with that party. “Control” of a person or entity means the power, directly or indirectly, to direct
the management or policies of that person or cntity, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract, by agency or othcrwise.

I Survival. Any provisions of this Agrcement relating to indemnification or to amounts due
and payable at the time of termination or cxpiration shall survive the termination or expiration
hereof. In addition, any terms and conditions contained in this Agreement that by their sense and
context are intended to survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement shall so survive.

J. Sale of Arena Building. If Licensor, at any time during the Term of this Agrecment,
decides to sell or otherwise transfer all or any part of the Arena Building, Licensor shall promptly
notify Licensee in writing, and such sale or transfer shall be subject to this Agreecment and
Licensees rights hereunder.

K. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable
by a court of competent jurisdiction, (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired in any way if the overall purpose of
the Agreement is not rendered impossible and the original purpose, intent or consideration is not
materially impaired; and (b) the parties shall negotiate in good faith in an attempt to agree to
another provision (instead of the provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) that is valid,
legal and enforceable and carries out the parties’ intentions to the greatest lawful extent. If any
such action or determination renders the overall performance of this Agreement impossible or
materially impairs the original purpose, intent or consideration of this Agreement, and the parties
are, despite the good faith efforts of each, unable to amend this Agreement to retain the original
purpose, intent and consideration in compliance with the court determination, either party may
terminate this Agreement upon 30 days’ prior written notice to the other party.

14



L. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which shall be
considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts
have been signed by each of the parties. All parties need not sign the same counterpart.

M. Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective August 24, 2015 (the “Effective Date”).

[signatures on following page]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of Licensor and Licensee has caused this Agreement
to be executed on its behalf by officials duly authorized therefore as of the date set forth in the

first paragraph hereof.

M S Benbow & Associates agrees
to be bound by the conditions in the

GRAND RAPIDS - KENT COUNTY
CONVENTION/ARENA AUTHORITY
H-Ilicensor,’

By:
Steven Heacock
Chairperson

CONCOURSE COMMUNICATION
GROUP, LLC
“Licensee”

its: C¥o

above Neutral Host Cellular DAS License Agreement applicable
to it including, but not limited to, those

in Section 7.
M S BENBOW & ASSOCIATES
By:
Its:
Dated: , 2015

16



EXHIBIT A

Equipment Space

Can expand
this way if

Room is roughly 17x30

Electrical
Room 1115

Inside of Potential BTS room

Electric Room 1115

A-1



EXHIBIT B

Antenna Spaces

To be replaced by actual approved construction drawings

antenna spaces will be identified in tinal approved construction plans signed by both Licensor and Licensee.

B-1



(a)
(b)

(©)

(d)
(e)

0

(g)
(h)

EXHIBIT C

DAS Technical Standards

The Cellular DAS (‘DAS’) must meet each of the following requirements:
95% coverage for the Facilities public areas

The DAS must be designed taking into account the multi-purpose use of the Arena. The
floor configuration will be modified based on the type of event thus the quantity of patrons
is dynamic and the DAS must be designed to accommodate the traffic patterns.

Must be Carrier format neutral and support licensed wireless telephone / data operators in
the market where the Arena Building is located independent of wireless frequencies and
format used. Upgrades and expansions must be made to accommodate new technologies,
if requested by and paid for by the Carriers.

Must be designed to operate 24 hours a day 365 days a year.

Must be capable of supporting Cellular & PCS 3G, 4G, AWS, LTE, etc. across multiple
frequency bands. The DAS must also be capable of expansion to support new technologies
as well as MIMO operation.

Must not interfere with any other FCC licensed or unlicensed radio frequencies in operation
at the Arena Building including Public Safety (including police and fire), internal building
operations etc. In the event interference is identified, Licensee must immediately terminate
operation on the frequencies suspected to cause the interference until a resolution can be
implemented that is satisfactory to Licensor.

Must use modular architecture.

Must, before installation, have approval from Licensor as to location of conduits, antenna
mounting locations and other infrastructure. Roof or cxterior wall penetrations, are
prohibited unless approved by Licensor.

All Contractors must be appropriately licensed in the discipline of the Work being performed
unless otherwise otherwise agreed by Licensor.

(a)

2. Signal Coverage and Reliability

Active Signal Handling: The DAS must include active (powered) elements that filter and

amplify signals to consistently deliver wireless services at the appropriate power levels and
must support all requested services.Neutral Host DAS RF Design Criteria: Coverage
requirements for agreed upon floor plans and locations shall be 95% of all areas as
measured by only those specific Carriers that elect to participate in the DAS. Should a

C-1




Carrier, who is an active participant on the DAS, require performance requircments above
and beyond those referenced in this section 2(b), Licensee shall use all commercially
reasonable efforts to comply with those requests, so long as 1.) the increased performance
requirements do not adversely affect the ability for Licensee to support the performance
requircments of the DAS and 2.) the cost to implement and operationally support the
increased performance requirements shall be the responsibility of the requesting
Carrier(s).The initial DAS RF design shall be inclusive of all frequencies and technologies,
in use by AT&T, Verizon, Sprint PCS and T-Mobile. The headend must be capable of
supporting all technologies, but it doesn’t need to be equipped initially if the Carrier elects
not to participate in the initial deployment. The DAS shall be dimensioned for all Carriers
and technologies with a three (3) year growth projection. Special attention will be given
to specific macro parameters as provided by participating Carriers, so as to optimize the
hand-offs between the outdoor and indoor cellular networks. Licensee will provide the
RF design criteria for each Carrier contemplated to operate on the DAS (Downlink, Uplink,
Ec/lo etc.) to Licensor as part of the submittal process.

3. Both the RSSI and Interference requirements of the Carrier(s) that participate in the
System, shall be met as part of the final solution, subject to the conditions set forth in this
section. Backup Power: The DAS must be designed to have a minimum of 4 hours of backup
power capacity from a dedicated generator and an uninterrupted power supply (UPS) if
required by the Carrier.

4. Manageability

(a) End-to-End Visibility: The DAS must provide real time, cnd-to-end status
information from the Head cnd to the individual active remotes.

(b) Reporting: The management system must be capable of providing detailed reports
for DAS statistics, component outages, operational readings such as power levels,
output voltages etc., as applicable and available from the equipment

S. Codes
(a) The DAS must comply with:
i National Electric Safety Code (National Bureau of Standards)
ii. National Electrical Code (National Bureau of Fire Underwriters)

iii. Applicable FCC and other applicable federal, state and local
regulations and ordinances

iv. BICSI Standards



v. Design Criteria & Construction Standards of Licensor

vi. [nternational Building Code - latest adopted version
vii. Life Safety Code

The installation, operation or maintenance of the DAS must not endanger or interfere with the
safety of persons or property located at the Arena Building.

6. Inspections

(a)

The DAS shall be inspected by applicable governmental authorities as well as any
third party inspectors required by Licensor.

7. Fixtures

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(6

DAS components must not be placed in locations that would interfere with egress,
life safety, gas, clectric, steam, water or other fixtures Licensor deems as having

priority.

Aesthetics — Licensee shall stealth (with shrouds, paint, or placement) or integrate
antennas into architecture of the Arena Building, subject to the reasonable
approval of Licensor. All cable shall be installed in conduit and painted to match
the aesthetics of the Arena Building.

Indoor antennas must be suitable for suspended ceilings or walls and shall be of a
multi-band configuration. It is acceptable to surface mount antennas in an open
ceiling environment and to install surface mount antennas to walls, near ceiling
height.

All antenna mounting locations must be approved by Licensor before any
installation.

All DAS components (antennas, remotes, headend etc.) shall be labeled in
accordance with the nomenclature provided in the design drawings. All labels
must be permanently affixed and installed in locations where they are clearly
visible.

DAS components must be protected from the physical elements and operations
functions in the Arena Buiding. In locations where equipment is installed in the
open or mechanical spaces where splash or water hazards exist, the components
must be installed in a suited NEMA protective enclosure.



10.

(g)  The DAS must meet or exceed the most recent version of the Federal
Communications Commission Office of Engineering and Technology standards
for RF exposure (OET-65). Licensee will provide Licensor with a post
construction survey and report.

. DAS Capacity

The DAS inclusive of the Distributed Antenna System, Basestations, terrestrial or wireless
backhaul and MTSO shall be designed and dimensioned for a maximum capacity
requirement of 14,000 consisting of patrons and operations personnel.

Terrestrial Backhaul

The DAS shall be designed to have adequate terrestrial transport capacity from the
Headend at the Arena Building to the Central Office and MTSO. Licensee will advise
Licensor of the terrestrial transport capacity.

911 Requirements

The DAS must be capablc of supporting 911 scrvices in all the Arena Building as required
by the FCC and other governmental agencies having jurisdiction over the provision of 911
services. In addition, Licensee shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to improve
upon the accuracy of location services supported by the network, which may be limited by,
and or, to the following factors:

OEM’s hardware capabilities
Design and Architecture etficiency
Inter-Carrier Technology variances

Physical size and space limitations within Arena Building/property

Licensee shall present this design to Licensor as part of the submission process.



EXHIBIT D

DAS Operation Standards

1) System Availability

Licensee commits to having all DAS System and related equipment located at the Head-
End, Intermediate Distribution locations and remote equipment (“Locations”) in each zone
operational for use by all Carriers at least 99.7% of the time (0.9999 x 24 hours/day x 365
days/year (and 366 days per leap year)). Licensee will follow the procedures outlined in this
Agreement to gain timely access to the Locations at the Arena Building where DAS System is
installed, as needed, and comply with the Alarm Notification and Resolution Times Matrix set
forth in this Exhibit.

2) Operations Requirements

Licensee will maintain a twenty-four (24) hour per day, seven (7) day per week, three
hundred sixty- five (365) day per year (and 366 days per leap year) DAS System
monitoring center and fault notification phone number which will be provided to
Licensor and Benbow upon execution of this Agreement. The fault notification
telephone number will be utilized by Licensor, Benbow or a designated party to
report system issues and complaints from contractors, patrons or the Arena Building
staff. Licensee shall provide and maintain an equipment monitoring system which is
satisfactory to all Carriers participating in the Project. The DAS will be remotely
monitored by the Licensee personnel using software housed on Licensee’s dedicated
computer(s) that is connected via an “always on” reliable connection to the head-end
equipment. Licensee must provide suitable telecommunications transport service for
its equipment to accommodate remote monitoring of the DAS System.

Licensee acknowledges and agrees that time is of the essence in the repair of any service
impacting Outages and that Licensec will perform the repairs as expeditiously as possible. Upon
Licensee’s receipt of a fault or alarm notification, Licensee will perform an initial remote diagnosis
within fifteen (15) minutes of the fault or alarm notification and determine the alarm priority
according to the Alarm Priority Definitions and Schedule set forth below. In the event Licensee
cannot promptly clear the fault or alarm notification within one (1) hour, then Licensee will contact
the Director of Operation or any other facilities personnel assigned to help troubleshoot the issue.
If Licensee cannot clear the fault after such action, Licensee will perform a site visit unless
otherwise specified below. The purpose of the site visit would be to eliminate obvious faults, such
as AC power source faults, inadvertently disconnected cables, or similar faults. Upon confirmation
of a maintenance related problem, Licensee will provide written notice to Licensor in a timely
fashion regarding the root cause of the problem and estimated time to repair. In cases requiring

D-1



site visits, a minimum notice period of two (2) hours will be provided to Licensor as specified

below:

A) SMG

Attention: Jim Watt, Asst. GM
SMG-DeVos Place/Van Andel Arena
130 Fulton West
Grand Rapids, MI 49503
616.742.6188
jwatt@smggr.com

3) Response Matrix for DAS

Alarm Notification and Resolution Times Matrix

Priority | Notification (after On Site Arrival Restoration Time (after initial
Level alarm received and Time notification)
priority identified)
Critical < 15 minutes <1 hour <4 hours
Hourly updates
Major <15 minutes <4 hours <12 hours
Updated every
4 Hours
Minor <! hour <8 hours <24 hours
Updated every 8
hours
Warnings | Updated every 24 <24 hours <72 hours
hours
Definitions




Critical Outage:

Ability to provide service over the DAS System has stopped altogether or more than 20% of the
overall coverage has been lost. Critical problems will be worked on a 24 X 7 basis until
resolved. Licensor will designate a primary contact to be the liaison to Licensee within 2 hours
of the initial notification available on a 24 X 7 basis to assess alternative solutions and discuss
DAS System restoration.

Examples: DAS System outage, primary power, gencrator or battery plant failures, inter-building
fiber failure, RF interference or other related event.

Major Outage:

Service is seriously degraded, but DAS System can process traffic over 80% of the network.
Major problems will be worked on a 24 x 7 basis until service is restored. Updates will be
provided to Licensee at a minimum 4 hour interval.

Minor:

Service is lost at less than 5% the Arena Building. Minor problems will be worked during
regular local business hours, but will be resolved in accordance with the timeframe set forth in
section 3.

Example — Individual remote, antenna or coax damage or fiber / power infrastructure damage.
Warning:

Problem or incident where users of DAS System can operate on the majority of the System, but a
definite problem is identified and will be resolved in accordance with the timeframe set forth in
Section 3.

Examples: Single antenna or remote failures.
4) Spares

Licensee will maintain adequate spares in the local market for all Lowest Replaceable
Units (LRU) for the Distributed Antenna System,.



5) Maintenance
Licensee will develop and implement a Maintenance program for all aspects of the
System inclusive of the DAS System, UPS, power systems, Generator, etc. as applicable. The
maintenance program will address all aspects of the Project on a annual basis at a minimum.
Copies of all maintenance records will be provided to Licensor within ten (10) business days of
the request by Licensor. All maintenance activities must be scheduled with Licensor a minimum
of 72 hours in advance of the work beginning.

6) Service Log

Licensee will maintain onsite a service log for all maintenance and repair activities on the
DAS System. Licensor will have the right to request copies of the log and backup
documentation throughout the term of this Agreement. Licensor will work with Licensee to
determine the root cause of recurring failures / outages and will develop plans to mitigate the
problem.

7) System Performance

Licensee will provide system performance reports to Licensor upon request, including
System uptimes and alarms.

8) Operations Meetings

Licensee and Licensor will meet at a minimum on a bi-annual basis to review the overail
performance of the System, discuss System planning, upgrades, and expansions. Licensor has thc
right to schedule special mectings as needed for major event planning



EXHIBIT E
Preliminary Design
To be replaced by actual approved construction drawing

The approved preliminary designs of the System will be prepared by Licensee and signed
by both Licensee and Licensor.

B-1



EXHIBIT F

Blackout Dates

F-1

GRAPIDS 61448-188 350557v3



VAN ANDEL ARENA® WEEKLY

Item 8

DATE ‘15 EVENT EC | MOD ROOM TIME FUNCTION
Tue, Sep 1 Available
Wed, Sep2 | Available
Thur, Sep 3 | Available
Fri, Sep 4 Available
Sat, Sep 5 Kristy Mutchler SH The Intermission/ 6P-12A Wedding reception
All Banquet Rooms
Sun, Sep 6 Available
Mon, Sep7 |
Holiday — Closed
Tue,Sep 8 Savor M The Intermisson 6:30P-8P Non-profit group meeting
Wed, Sep9 | Available
Thur, Sep 10 | Available
Fri, Sep 11 Janet Jackson KP Arena 8:00 PM Performance
Sat, Sep 12 | Available
Sun, Sep 13 | Available
Mon, Sep 14 | Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 8:00 AM Load-in
Tue, Sep 15 | Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 8:00 AM Load-in
Wed, Sep 16 | Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 8:00 AM Load-in/Rehearsals
Thur, Sep 17 | Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 7:00 PM Performance
Fri, Sep 18 Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 7:00 PM Performance
Sat, Sep 19 | Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 11:00 AM Performance
3:00 PM Performance
7:00 PM Performance
Sun, Sep 20 | Ringling Bros. Circus KP Arena 1:00 PM Performance
5:00 PM Performance
Mon, Sep 21 | Available
Tue, Sep 22 | Available
Wed, Sep 23 | Available
Thur, Sep 24 | Available
Fri, Sep25 | American Red Cross L] Front Plaza 10A-3:45P ArtPrize blood drive
Sat, Sep 26 | Available
Sun, Sep 27 | Available




WV 65611 $102/87/8

I[eH 2ouBULIONd SOASA = HIAQ Swooy SuNedA 200N = -V NOW 4-V Y00[SAQ 1A = J-V O @-V wooljjed = -V T1vE
! H-V swooy Sunasp 400paAQ = H-V O DD J-V swooy Sunasy AR{[en pueIn = 4-v DD D-V SIleH ¥qXd = OV HI
FOV1d SOATQ YO SINTWLVIYL YOI LXT LSam DNIHSVM MOANIM QIVMY
MY ¥FAIdS ANV ONIHSYM MOGNIM AVATIV | ANV .ISVI SVIIV AYITIVD ANVYD g40V1d SOATA
7dds ‘aam
GONVY 91Vd TVIOLV SV
FOV1d SOATQ YO4 SINTWLVIIL YONYALXT LSIM ONIHSVM MOANIM QIAVMY
My YIAIdS ANY ONIHSYM MOANIM : AVATIV | ANV LSVE SYIAV AYTTIVD ANVID dOV1d SOATd
amnuedsq D wdog:s
Suturel|, wdpQ: - urepQ:6 HD Y00{13AQ A13][eD) pURID
0 ov dmpag / [eAlIY 31D Wwe)):g d g jooaaQ Assjen pueln sopiwwo) A1ages 7 uoueonpy ASLVI
anyreds( a1 wdgQ:s
1S3 puodIg wdgy:g
1891 15114 wdog:g
18L HY [BALLIY USI[D weQ:L uonoung-3id pue g wooijjeq wexg 1Yyl 14dS 'sant
ANFLLY 153 o3 NOLLONNA FNLL W00 INIAT aLva
ST0T 1aquiaydag

widgg:9-wdpp:z1 Aepung
wdpo:01-urego:6 s % 1d
wdgQ:g-wegQ:6 SINY-Uo
SINOY AMNUIA BUALY [9pUY UBA PUR 398[d SOAI(
10T ‘111590100 — £ J2quiandag
S10T ZLdMY

3Z1ddL¥V

BUALY [3pUY UBA 6 100 998]d SOAYT € WO
208]d SOAS( 9T 1dag euary [opuy ueA g7 1dog

ZLJUY Sunn(g S[IqOJA Poo[d SS0I) PoYy UBOLISWIY

"0J9 SUCIYPUOI J9Y1eaM UO paseq abueyd o3 1algns
10LIDIX3 JSaM pue Jses seale AIdJies puels — p-T id3s
OT 3das ybnouy s
3OV1d SOAIA Y04 IDONVNILNIVIW INLLNOY

S1/87/8 pavepdn) - A TIHAM
OV IESOATC]



WV 65:6V:11 $107/87/8

I[EH 30UBULIONId] SOA = HAAQ swooy 33 20IUOW = 0-V NOW 4-V Y000 1A = 4V O G-V wooljleg = -V T1vd
H-V swooy Sunas Y0OUIAQ = H-V O DD -V Swooy Sunso A|[eD puesD = 4-V OO -V S[IeH NAXd = O~V Ha
siredas 3sow ay) pey 2A31jaq |
m¥ | apis s z1/6-7/6 woy Jredar yoop apis wooljjeg- AVA TV 00p apis wooljeg areday 31010u0D Yoo Sulpeo]
LNIVIA/SMOANIM N6S:1 1-NV00:8 43ao8v 50
INIVA/SMOANIM Nd6S:11-NV00:8 515}
my INIVA/SMOANIM Nd65:11-NV00:8 o9V H FONVNILNIVIA 8 dds 'SInk
savedas ysous Y} pey A1 |
MY | 3PIS SIYL "T1/6-7/6 Woy Jredal 300p IpIS Woos|eg- AVA TV 300 3pis wool|eg areday aja10u0) Yooq Suipeo]
L 43S 'NOW
s1iedal 150w oY) peY AN[3q |
MY | 9pIs sy "Z1/6-7/6 Woy Jredas oop apis wool|eg- AVA 1TV %00p 3pis wool|feg 1reday aje10u0)) Yooq Sutpeo]
9 4dS ‘NNS
saredar 3sow Y3 pey 2A1[3q |
MY [ 9pIs SIYL "Z1/6-7/6 Woy Jredal oop Ipis wool|eg- AVA 1TV 00p 3pis wooljreg 1reday 31919u0D Yoo Sulpeo]
§ 43S 'LVS
siredal 3sow Y3 pey 3A13q |
MY | 9pIS SIYL “Z1/6-2/6 Woy Jredas Yoop 3pis woosjjeg- AVA TV 00p 3pIs wooljeg 11eday 2191000 Yoo Sutpeo]
IDONVY LVA TV.LOLV SV
3OV'1d SOATA Y04 SINTFNLYIYL YOIILXT LSTM ONIHSVM MOAGNIM QEVMY
My Y3AIdS ANV ONIHSYM MOANIM AVATIV | QNV 1SV SVIHV A¥TTTVO ANVYED 3OV'1d SOAId
v dds T4d
saredal Jsow Y1 pey IA91aq |
MYy | opIs SIL T1/6-7/6 Woy Niedal %0op 3pis wooljjeg- AVd TV 00p 3pis woolj[eg areday 31210u0D) Yooq Suipeoy
FONVY 1VA TVIOLV SV
JOV1d SOATA Y04 SINFNLVIIL JOIYILXd LSIM ONIHSYM MOQNIM QIVMY
My YIAIIS ANV DNIHSYM MOANIM AVATIV | ANV 1SV3 SVIYV AYTTIVD ANVID 40V1d SOAd
£ d9S ‘SUNHL
sneda1 3sow Y pey 2A91j3q |
MY | 9pIS SWL T1/6-T/6 Woy Jredar Yoop pis wool|feg- AVA TV 300p 3pis wool|feg areday 31210u0D Yooq Suipeo]
IONVY 3LVA TV.IOLY SV

$1/87/8 parepdn - A TIHAM
IOV IESOATE]



WV 6§:6¥:11 S107/87/8

I[eH 90ueuLOMd SOA3d = HIAQ

Swooy Suljas|N 0IUON = 0-V NOW
H-V swooy Sulad| YOOHRAQ = H-V O DD

A~V YOOURAQ JATY = 4-V O
4=V swooy Sunes A13[[en pueid = -V DD

d-v wooljeg = -V 11vd
-V SileH 1qiyxg = OV HA

dnL3s INd6S T11-NV00:8 49 0995
dniL3s Nd6S 11-NV00-8 asoovo
dni3s INd6S:11-INV00:8 gav 09D
dn.L3s INd6S:11-INV00:8 4405 55
dni3s Nd6S:11-NV00:8 qav 9o
NOILLVYLSIOFY Wd6S:11-NV00:8 d94d OHA
FOVIOLS Wd6S:11-AV00'8 JOLS D HI
dAL3s Wd6S:T1-INV00:8 OHH
dNL3s Wd6S:11-NV00-8 dSVHO
301440 Nd6S T1-INV00-8 ALosng
IOVIOLS Wd6S:11-NV00'8 1voD g 11vd
dni3s Wd6S:11-NV00:8 aogyv 11ve
N dDOVIO0LS Nd6S:11-NV00:8 LVOO V 11vd LINANS YJOANIA d3MIN 71 43S ‘'NOW
AN dNLIS/NI-HAON AV Nd6S:11-NV00:8 aosgyv 1ivd LINNNS YJOANIA JIMIN £1 43S ‘NS
siredas 3sow Y3 pey dAd1Rq |
JiaX: | 3pIS SIYL “T1/6-7/6 woy Jiedai yo0p dpis wooljjed- AVATIV 300p 3pis wooljleg Jeday 23910u0D Yoo Suipeo]
4TvS SWONW Wd6S 11-NV00-8 43dd vH3 Ayied- GOW
AN SLIgIHXd Nd6S 1 I-NV00:8 vV H3 JTVS SIWNOW NVOIHIIA LSIm [AR: ENIRA A
saredas Jsow Y3 pey 9A31[2q |
MA apIs SIYL "T1/6-T/6 Wwoy aredal yoop apis wooljjeg- AVaiiv 30Pp 3pis wooljjieg Jeday 21010U0D Yoo Suipeo]
v ONLLIIN Nd6S: 11-AV00-8 VOO SONILITN SYIDOVNVIN ALID S10T
J1VS SINON INd6S 11-INV00-8 J34d vH3 Sy~ QO
AN dN.L3s INd6S:11-INV00-8 V HI JTVS SINOW NVOIHOIA LSIm 11d3S Td
s11edal 150w Y1 pey 2A313q |
My 3pIs SIYL ‘T1/6-7/6 woy aredas yoop 3pis wiood)jeg- AVA TV 3O0p 3pis wooljjeq Jieday 2121000 390 Sulpeo]
FONVINIO4Ydd Nd00: 1 1-INdOt 6
FONVIWIOIY3d Nd0€-8-Nd00-L
AV NI JAON Wd00:CI-NV00:8 HdAd AT3ANITS A¥Jdr
INIVI/SMOONIM Wd6S 1 1-NV00:8 43ad4v DD
LINIVIW/SMOUNIM Nd6S:11-INV00:8 D5 sSUYO- Ao
Jiy: LNIVI/SMOJNIM Nd6S:11-INV00:8 odv HI JONVNILNIVIA 01 d3S 'SYNHL
siyedas 1sow Y3 pey A1 |
My 3pIS SIYL "T1/6-T/6 Woy iredas Yo0p 3pis wooi|[egd- AVa 1y 3P0p 3pis wool[jeg Jreday 21210000 yo0Q Suipeo]
LINIVIW/SMOUNIM Wd6S:T11-NV00:8 43@o8v D9
LINIVIA/SMOQNIM Wd6S T1-NV00:8 3]3)
JlaX: LNIVIA/SMOQNIM INd6S-11-INV00:8 Jdv Hia HONVNILNIVIA 6 ddS ‘dam

S1/8¢/8 parepdn) - ATIHAM
OV IISOATEL




NV 65:6V:11 S107/87/8

[[EH 20UBULOJId SOASA = HAAQ

Swooy SunesjA 20IUOW = d-V NOW
H-V sw00y Sunasiy JOO[SAQ = H-V O DD

J-V swooy Sunasy Aidj[en puerd = J-v DO

4-V JOOIRAQ JPARY = 4-V OY

Q-Vv wooljieg = g-v 11vd
-V slieH #qiyxq = -V HA

S3 NOILNIANOD Nd6S:T11-NV00-8 asgv 1ivd dIHSY3Ava1 SNOI'T VAVNVD VSN 10T 81498 Tdd
Hf TVSIVIHAA N00:01 — INdOE L HdAd 1NN % 0dW0Y ] [BDISSE]D) SYD
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 43049
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 as o
Nd6S: T1-INV00:8 gav od
Nd6S 1 1-INV00:8 ajnav NOW
Nd6S:11-INV00-8 HD 0HD
Nd6S:T1-INV00:8 43095
Nd6S:T11-INV00:8 aooovo
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 av 095
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 43ad549v 09
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 Od H3
Wd6S:11-INV00:8 V H3
Wd6S:11-INV00:8 dSVHO WNAO4 suukT- GOW
RE| NOLLNIANQD INd6S:11-INV00:8 asgv 1ivd dIHSYIAVAT SNOIT VAVNVD VSN §10T L1 d3S "SANHL
TVSIVIHTA Wd00:01 — INdOE-L
Hf TVSAVIHTA Nd00:9 — INdOE € HdAd BHN{ 79 O3WOY -] [BAASSBID SUD
Nd6S:11-WV00-8 Jd H3
Wd6S:11-INV00-8 V H3 WNAOL
sS4 dN.L3S Nd6S:11-INV00:8 aosdv 11vd dIHSYIAVIT SNOIT VAVNVD VSN §10T 91 43S 'aam
TVSYVIHIY Wd00:0T — INdOE-L
Hr NI JAON NdI-NV8 HdAd 131N[ 79 0UIOY °] [BIISSBID SUD
Nd6S:11-NV00:8 VIHOOdS
Nd6S:11-NV00:8 Adgg0T10DD
LINNS YOANIA Nd6S§:11-INV00:8 HD 0D
LINANS YJOANIA
SLNOAVIYd Nd6S 11-INV00:8 43055
001 40 SLNOAVIIL T Nd6S 11-INV00:8 asooo
007 404 LNOAVIYd Nd6S:11-INV00:8 av 00D
007 404 LNOAVIAd
00T 40 SLNOAVIYL T Nd6S TI-INV00:8 43d0 5D
0ST Y04 LNONVIYd Nd6S:11-INV00:8 av DD
NOILVYLSIDTA Nd6S 11-INV00:8 49dd OH3
JOVIOLS Nd6S:11-INV00:8 IOVIOLS O HI
STVIN Nd6S:11-NV00:8 JOHE
SONILFIN Nd6S:11-INV00:8 dSVHO
FI1440 Nd6S:11-INV00:8 JyLosng
OVIO0LS Nd6S:11-INV00:8 Lvoo d1ivd
NOISSIS TVHINTD Nd6S: 1 T-INV00:8 asgv 11vd
AN JOVIOLS INd6S:11-INV00:8 LVOO VvV T1vd LINWNS JOANIA d3IN S1d3S 'sanl
dniL3s Nd6S: 11-INV00-8 VIHDO3S
JLINNNS -A d3MIN Wd6S:11-INV00:8 Ad9g901099
dN.L3Is INd6S:11-INV00:8 HD 009D

G1/87/8 pavepd - ATIHAM
HOVIEFSOATC]




AV 65:6¥ 11 S10T/87/8
g-v wooleg = d-v 11ve
O~V Sl[eH 3qIyx3 = O~V HA

SWooy SulledjA S0IUON = d-V NOW
H-V swooy Sunssjy j0ojsAQ = H-V O DD

4-V JOOURAQ JoAlY = -V OY
4-V swiooy Sunsay A19j[en puein = -y DD

[[eH 3oUeUL0}dd SOA3Q = HAAQ

dni3as Wd6S:T11-INV00:8 JH3
Sd g H3 MOHS d004 OJSAS
JO3Y¥dANOD ISN IONVLSENS Wd6S:11-NV00-8 VIHOO3S
WOOY ¥IMOTINNS Nd6S:11-INV00:8 vV Od
S1LNONVIYd Nd6S: 1 1-INV00-8 HO 0DD
S1LNOMNvIYd WNd6S: 1 1-INV00-8 43055
S1NOMvIYd Nd6S-11-INV00:8 asobo
S1NONvadd Nd6S: T1-INV00:8 gv 0DD
S1NoMNvadd Nd6S:11-INV00:8 43009V 0D
IOVIOLS/TON440 Wd6S:11-INV00:8 dLosNd
JOVIOLS/IO14J0 Nd6S 11-INV00:8 1lvoDo d1ivd
SLNOAVIIL Nd6S: 11-NV00-8 aTivd JONTIFINOD
SLIgIHXd Wd6S:11-INV00:8 O T1vd ONIFINDOI0-00-J43qIOSIa
o4 STVINW/AYVNITd Nd6S:11-INV00:8 gv 11vd 3SN JONV.LSENS TVANNY HLII 172 43S 'NOW
JONFIYFINOD
ONIIINDOD0-00-J3AYOSIa wif - Jon
v dfl 138 LIgIHXT Nd6S:11-INV00:8 2 T11vd ISN FONV.LSENS TVNNNY H191 0T 43S ‘NAS
1NO IAON WV00:T1- Wd00:01
JONVINROLI3d Wd00-01- Nd00:8 HdAd
HI lviddn NdOE:L —INd00:L TVLIOTY 191Nf 7% 03WOY | [BISSBID SUD
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 4304
Nd6S-11-INV00-8 asod
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 av o
Nd6S§:11-INV00:8 Ollvd
Nd6S 11-INV00:8 asgv NOW
Nd6S 1 1-INV00-8 HD 0DD
Nd6S: 11-INV00:8 330959
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 asoovo
Nd6S 11-INV00:8 av 009
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 43adgv 09
Nd6S-11-INV00-8 Jd Hi
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 V H3
Nd6S:T11-INV00:8 dSVHO WMYOd Appd— AOW
S3 NOILNFANOD INd6S: 1 1-INV00:8 asgv 11ve dIHSYIAVIT SNOI'T VAVNVYD VSN 10T 61 ddS 'LVS
FONVINAOId3d Nd00:01 — Nd00-8 HdAdQ
HF lv3dadn NdOE:L — dNOO:L VLIDTA BIN[ % 03WOY -] [BIISSEID SYD
Nd6S:11-NV00:8 430
Nd6S:11-NV00:8 as oy
Wd6S:11-INV00:8 av od
Nd6S:11-INV00:8 HD 0D
Nd6S T1-NV00:8 49 005
Nd6S:11-WV00:8 asooo
Wd6S T11-NV00:8 gav 00D
Wd6S:11-INV00:8 430049V DD
Wd6S:11-INV00-8 Jd Ha
Wd6S:11-INV00:8 VHi
ANd6S:11-INV00:8 ASVHD WNJOd PPOL—- AON

S1/87/8 parepdn - A TIIIAM
HOVTESOATCL




WV 65:6v:11 S107/8T/8
g-v wooljjed = g-V 11vd
OV sifeH ¥qWyxg = O~v HY

4-V Y0OP2AQ 10A1Y = 4-V OY
4-V swooy Sunespy Ais|[en pueln = J-v DD

Swooy Suned 201U = J-V NOW
H-V swooy Suasjn J0oI3AQ = H-V O DD

[[eH 90UBULIOH3] SOASd = HIAQ

d21440 Wd6S 11-NV00-8 YINO Snd
dni3as Nd6S:11-NV00:8 43595 NOISS3S TVNNNV SLSILNOQOHLIO PPOL- QO
)4 dn.ias Nd6S:11-INV00:8 av 11vd 40 NOILYIOOSSY SIAVT LVIID +¥Z ddS ‘SYNHL
Nd6S 11-INV00-8 TVLIOTE
Wd6S:T1-AV00:8 aosgyv NOW
AV JONVINIOIATd INdOE:L HdAQ SAISMIN SINISTUd D9
uond205y SuadQ §107 2zuduy uruaag yemANS uondaoay SutuadQ §10Z 2zLdUY
NOISSIS ONINNV1d
NOISS3S ONINNV1d INd6S:11-INV00:-8 dSVHO JALLNOAXT HLTVIH WNYLO3dS
301440 NS Nd6S:11-NV00-8 1voo d 1ivd
INIAT NS Nd6S:11-NV00:8 4344 ad 11vd LNIAT SNOILVTIIA
Hi dN.LIS Nd6S:11-INV00-8 ad 1ivd JONOA ANV INANTY NS vT-£T-6
dN L3S YJOLIgIHX3 Ad8010d
INIAF/EN L3S Wd6S 11-NV00:8 4304
LNIAF/EN L3S Wd6S:11-NV00:8 as od Appa— AOW
q2 INIAF/MN L3S INd6S:11-INV00:8 gav Oy JONTIFINOD ADVINUVHI £2ddS 'aam
Wd6S:11-NV00:8 TV.LIOFY
Wd6S 1T-INV00:8 aogv NOW
FONVINIOLY3d Wdot:L
AV NI JAON Nd00:S-NV00:8 HdAd SAISMIN SLNISTUd YD
FJONVIELNAT Wd6S 11-NV00:8 ONN4d Tdd OHA
J01440/3DVIOLS N6S:11-INV00:8 JOVIOLS DO HE
MOHS Wd6S:11-NV00:8 JOHHE
S$3 d H3 MOHS @004 OOSAS
303Y34ANOD d6S T1-NV00:8 VIHOO3S
WOOY YIMOTINNS Wd6S:11-NV00-8 v Od
SLNOMVAYd Wd6S: TT-NV00:8 HD 09D
SLNOAVIEL Wd6S:11-INV00:8 430995
SLNOAVIIL Wd6S:11-INV00:8 as oo
SLNOMVAUdL Wd6S 11-NV00-8 av 099
SLNOAVIUL INd6S:T1-INV00:8 43a049v 99
ADVIOLS/3D1440 Wd6S 11-NV00-8 Jrosngd
ADVIOLS/FI1440 Wd6S:11-NV00:8 1v0oD a 11vd
SinoAvIyd Nd6S: 1 1-INV00-8 ativd JONTFYIINOOD
SLIgIHX3 WNd6S:T1-INV00:8 JT11vd ONITINIDO0-0D-Y3AIOSIA pPod—-dOW
v STVIW/AYVNITd Nd6S:11-INV00:8 dav T11vd 4SN FONV.LSENS TVNINNV H191 ¢ d3s santL
V00:CI-INV00:8 TVLIOFY
WV00:Z1-INV00:8 asgyv NOW
AV NI JAON INV00:CI-INV00:8 HdAQ SAISMIN SINISHUd 404
JONVILNA Wd6S F1-NV00:8 ONNd Fdd DHI
JI1440/IDVIOLS Nd6S:11-INV00:8 JOVIOLS O H3

S1/87/8 parepdn) - A TIIM
HOVIESOAREL




WV 65:6v:11 $107/87/8

[leH 3oueulIopdd SOASQ = HAAd

Swooy Sunedjy 0IUON = J-V NOW
H-V Swooy Sunasjy J00H3AQ = H-V O DO

A-V YOOU2AQ JoAlY = J-V O
4-V swooy Sunss A1djien puein = 4-vy DO

a-v wooljieg = -V 11vd
-V SiieH 3qIyx3 = 5-V HA

POy~ O
LTd3S NNS
Nd6S: 1 1-IAV00:8 MVLIOTY
Wd6S:11-IAV008 aosgv NOW
FONVNIOLFdAd Wd00'8
AV FONVNHOLIAd Wd00:Z HdAQ SAISMAN SLNISTYd 409
BUDIY [9PUY UBA 18 6 100 PUR 398]d SOA3] € 190
30e[d SOAS( 97 1d3S pue BUAIY [opuy ueA ST 1dog
*S31EP $ UO JZ1JUY Suunp
3[1qow poojq & Sunsoy 3q {Jim SSOID Py UBILIWY agl 31190 pooig 3AL( POO|g $S01D) PIY UBOLIUIY
MOHS Tvaryg INd6S:1 I-INV00:8 ONNd 3¥d VHA
s3 SLIGIHXT/dN L3S INA6S: 1 1-INV00:8 vV HI NVOIHOIA 1SIM JO MOHS Tvdrid
INd6S T I-WV00°8 430 05
NOISS3S INd6S: T 1-NV00:8 ogv 0D
NOISS3S NOFHONNT SFud INd6S: 1 1-NV00:8 3SVHO
401440 INA6S: 11-NV00:8 YIND Snd
NOILd3D3¥ INd6S: 1 1-V00:8 A€€07 VIHOO3S NOISS3S TYNNNYV S1SILNOJOHLYO suukT- GQOW
oV HONNT/SLIGIHXT Nd6S:1 1=V 00:8 a-v 11ve 4O NOILVIDOSSY SANVT LVIID 97 43S "LVS
Nd6S:11-V00:8 IVLIOTE
Nd6S:11-NV00:8 aogv NOW
AV JONVINIOLddd Nd00'8 HdAQ SAISMAN SINISTYd 409
MOHS Tvardgd INd6S:1 1-WV00:8 ONNd 3¥d VHA
s3 SLigIHX3 Nd6S:11-WV00:8 vV HI NVOIHOIA 1SIM 40 MOHS Tvarig
NOISS3S W65 T1-NV00°8 43d 09
NOISS3S 651 1-INV00:8 oav Do
HONNT 09V Wd6S:11-AV00:8 3SVHD
301440 Nd6§:11-WV00:8 YIND Snd
NOILd30TY W61 1-NV00:8 Ag€07 VIHODAS NOISS3IS TYANNY S1SILNOJOHLYO wir - AOW
ov HONNV/SLISIHXT Nd6S: 1 1-V00:8 a-v 11ve 40 NOILLVIDOSSY SFNVT LVIID $7 d3s T4d
NA6S:11-V00:8 TVLIOTY
Nd6S T 1-IWV00:8 anav NOW
AV JONVINIOL¥dd WdOE:L HdAd SAISMIN SINISTHd 404
F01440 NSW N6 11-NV00:8 Lvo0 d 11vd
INTAT NSKW Nd6S:11-AV00:8 4334 D 1T1ve INFAT SNOILVI3Y
HY INFAT NSW Nd6S:11-AV00:8 a0 11vd YONOJ ANV INWNTV NS $T-£2-6
Nd6S TI-NV00°8
SLIgIHX3 Wd6S:1T1-WV00:8 AS90170¥
SONILIFN Nd6S:1 1-INV00:8 43 0¥
SONILLATN Nd6S:11-NV00:8 a’ oy
SONILIIN WA6S:11-V00:8 v od
e} SONILITN Nd6S:11-AV00:8 ISVHO FJONTYIINOD ADVINYVHd

S1/87/8 parepdn) - A TIIIM
HOVIESOARCL




WV 65:6v:11 S107/87/8

I[eH 3oUeuLOpad SOA3Q = HIAQ

Swooy Sunvs 0IUON = -V NOW
H-V suiooy Sunssi 0011940 = H-V O DD

4-V JOOIRAQ 1341 = J-V OY
4-v swooy Sunesy A[[eD puelD = 4-¥ DD

g-v woolied = q-v 11vd
-V SieH 3#qiyX3 = OV HA

SLSITVINLYNYAINS
AV JONVINIOJYTd IN6S:11-INV00:8 HdAQ JHL SLNIS3AYd TIONV SIIHD
md Suiuies ], K195eg agl V 90JUOIN Sulureay, K1o5e8
NOILd3D3Td Nd6S:11-INV00:8 NOILJIOTY Aped- AOW
AN NOILLdFD3Y INd6S: 1I-INV00:8 OLLVd ‘ONNd 3¥d D 11vd YVOID HYOMLIN ADI'TOd ILVLS 0¢ d3s ‘dim
SLSITVINLVYNYIAANS
AV JONVINIOLYId Nd6S:11-NV00:8 HdAd JHL SINISTAd TIONV SIIHD
M Suturea], A1ayeg adgl V 20IUON Sulures ], K1a3eg
Nd6S T 1-INV00:8
S1NO AvIYd Nd6S T1-INV00:8 43004V 59
JI1440 Nd6S 1 1-INV00:8 d1rosnd
IDVYOLS INd6S 1 1-INV00:8 LvOoo d1ivd ONINIVYL suuk1- GOW
HY NOISSHS TVIINID Nd6S:11-INV00:8 dogv 11ve | dOATAUNS/SUIAIAOY LNIOT §10Z T1V4 6C d3S 'S3NL
M Sutues |, A1o5es agl V 20IUON Suures], A13yes
II21440 Nd6S:11-INV00:8 drosngd
IOVIOLS Wd6S: T1-INV00:8 Lvoo a1ived ONINIVYIL .
HY dn 13S Nd6S:11-NV00:8 aogyv 11vd | JOATAINS/SATAIAQUC LNIOf ST10Z 11V 8T d3S 'NOW
Nd6S T1-INV00:8 TVLIDTY
Nd6S 11-INV00:8 angyvy NOW
FONVINIOLY3d WdO0¢:9
AV HONVINIOJYTd Nd00: 1 HdAd SAISMIN SLNISTUd Y9

1/87/8 parepdn - ATIIIM
HOVTEFSOASA




